SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

FORM POS EX

Post-effective amendments filed solely to add exhibits to a registration statement

Filing Date: **2017-07-05 SEC Accession No.** 0000930413-17-002457

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

FILER

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS

CIK:906352| IRS No.: 000000000 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1031 Type: POS EX | Act: 33 | File No.: 033-63560 | Film No.: 17948154

Mailing Address 1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS NEW YORK NY 10105 Business Address 1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS NEW YORK NY 10105 212-698-3393

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM N-1A

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

PRE-EFFECTIVE AMENDMENT NO. □

POST-EFFECTIVE AMENDMENT NO. 86

□

AND/OR REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER

(CHECK APPROPRIATE BOX OR BOXES)

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS

(EXACT NAME OF REGISTRANT AS SPECIFIED IN CHARTER)

1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS NEW YORK, NY 10105

(ADDRESS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES)

REGISTRANT'S TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE: (212) 698-3300

SUZAN AFIFI

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS

1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS
NEW YORK, NY 10105
(NAME AND ADDRESS OF AGENT FOR SERVICE)

COPY TO:

NATHAN J. GREENE, ESQ. SHEARMAN & STERLING LLP 599 LEXINGTON AVENUE NEW YORK, NY 10022

- Γhis post-effective amendment will become effective in	nmediately pursuant to Rule 462(d).

EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Post-Effective Amendment No. 86 to the Registration Statement on Form N-1A (File No. 33-63560) of First Eagle Funds (the "Registration Statement") is being filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), solely for the purpose of filing exhibits to the Registration Statement. Accordingly, this Post-Effective Amendment No. 86 consists only of a facing page, this explanatory note, Part C of the Registration Statement, and exhibits (d)(10), (g)(1) and (h)(6) filed pursuant to Item 28 of the Registration Statement. This Post-Effective Amendment No. 86 does not modify any other part of the Registration Statement. Pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, this Post-Effective Amendment No. 86 shall become effective immediately upon filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The contents of the Registration Statement are hereby incorporated by reference.

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS PART C

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 28. Exhibits

EXHIBIT		
(a)	_	Amended and Restated Agreement and Declaration of Trust of Registrant.(19)
(b)	_	Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant.(19)
(c)	_	Specimen Certificates representing shares of Common Stock (\$.001 par value). (1)
(d)(1)	_	Investment Advisory Contract between the Registrant and First Eagle Investment Management, LLC ("FEIM").(17)
(d)(2)	_	Investment Advisory Contract between the Registrant and FEIM with respect to First Eagle Fund of America.(17)
(d)(3)	_	Sub-advisory Agreement between FEIM and Iridian Asset Management LLC with respect to the First Eagle Fund of America.(17)
(d)(4)	_	Investment Advisory Contract between the Registrant and FEIM with respect to First Eagle High Yield Fund.(17)
(d)(5)	_	Investment Advisory Contract between the Registrant and FEIM with respect to First Eagle Global Income Builder Fund. (17)
(d)(6)	_	Investment Advisory Contract between FEIM and First Eagle Global Cayman Fund, Ltd.(17)
(d)(7)	_	Investment Advisory Contract between FEIM and First Eagle Overseas Cayman Fund, Ltd.(17)
(d)(8)	_	Investment Advisory Contract between FEIM and First Eagle U.S. Value Cayman Fund, Ltd.(17)
(d)(9)	—	Investment Advisory Contract between FEIM and First Eagle Gold Cayman Fund, Ltd.(17)
(d)(10)	_	FEIM side letter with respect to FEIM investment management fee amendment for First Eagle Fund of America. Filed herewith.
(e)(1)	_	Underwriting Agreement between the Registrant and FEF Distributors, LLC. ("FEF Distributors").(17)
(e)(2)	_	Forms of Selling Group Agreement. (12)
(f)	_	Not applicable.
(g)(1)	_	Global Custody Agreement between the Registrant and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. Filed herewith.
(g)(2)	_	Transfer Agency and Registrar Agreement between the Registrant and DST Systems, Inc.(17)
(h)(1)	_	Administrative Services Agreement between the Registrant (on behalf of First Eagle High Yield Fund) and FEIM.(17)
(h)(2)	_	Administrative Services Agreement between the Registrant (on behalf of First Eagle Global Income Builder Fund) and FEIM.(17)
(h)(3)	_	Amended and Restated Fee Waiver Agreement between the Registrant (on behalf of First Eagle U.S. Value Fund) and FEIM.(21)
(h)(4)	_	Amended and Restated Fee Waiver Agreement between the Registrant (on behalf of First Eagle U.S. Value Cayman Fund) and FEIM.(21)
(h)(5)	_	Amended and Restated Fee Waiver Agreement between the Registrant (on behalf of First Eagle High Yield Fund) and FEIM.(21)
(h)(6)	_	Fund Services Agreement between the Registrant and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. Filed herewith.
(i)	_	Not applicable.
(j)(1)	_	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.(22)
(j)(2)	_	Shearman & Sterling LLP Opinion with respect to 2004 Reorganization.(7)
(j)(3)	_	Stradley Ronan Stevens & Young, LLP Opinion with respect to the tax consequences of the 2011 Reorganization.(11)

EXHI	RI	Т

(j)(4)	_	Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A. Opinion with respect to the offering of shares of First Eagle High Yield
U)(¬)		Fund.(11)
(k)	—	Not applicable.
(1)	_	Not applicable.
(m)	_	Rule 12b-1 Distribution Plan and Agreement between the Registrant and FEF Distributors.(20)
(n)		Amended and Restated Multiple Class Plan pursuant to Rule 18f-3. (20)
(o)		Not applicable.
(p)	_	Code of Ethics.(22)
(q)(1)	_	Power of Attorney. (10)
(q)(2)	—	Powers of Attorney. (14)

- (1) Incorporated herein by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 2 filed on or about August 30, 1993.
- (2) Reserved.
- (3) Reserved.
- (4) Reserved.
- (5) Reserved.
- (6) Reserved.
- (7) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 26 filed on or about February 27, 2007.
- (8) Reserved.
- (9) Reserved.
- (10) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 37 filed on or about October 14, 2011.
- (11) Incorporated herein by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form N-14 filed on or about November 28, 2011.
- (12) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 44 filed on or about February 24, 2012.
- (13) Reserved.
- (14) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 62 filed on or about April 30, 2014.
- (15) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 65 filed on or about February 25, 2015.
- (16) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 67 filed on or about March 2, 2015.
- (17) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 73 filed on or about February 26, 2016.
- (18) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 74 filed on or about February 26, 2016.
- (19) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 78 filed on or about December 23, 2016.
- (20) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 79 filed on or about February 3, 2017.
 (21) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 81 filed on or about February 28, 2017.
- (21) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 81 filed on or about February 28, 2
 (22) Incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 84 filed on or about April 7, 2017.

Item 29. Person Controlled or Under Common Control With Registrant

None.

Item 30. Indemnification

Reference is made to the provisions of Article Three, Section Seven and Article Seven, Section Two of Registrant's Amended and Restated Agreement and Declaration of Trust, which document is incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 78 to the Registration Statement on Form N-1A (File No. 811-7762) filed on December 23, 2016, together with the entirety of Article Six of Registrant's Amended and Restated By-Laws, which document is incorporated herein by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 78 to the Registration Statement on Form N-1A (File No. 811-7762) filed on December 23, 2016.

The general effect of these provisions, and related statutory indemnification benefits as may be available under Delaware or other applicable state or federal laws, is to protect trustees, officers, employees and agents of Registrant against legal liability and expenses incurred by reason of their service to Registrant. In accord with the foregoing, Registrant shall indemnify its trustees, officers, employees and agents against judgments, fines, penalties, settlements and expenses to the fullest extent authorized, and in the manner permitted, by applicable state and federal law.

In addition, the Registrant will maintain a trustees' and officers' errors and omissions liability insurance policy protecting directors and officers against liability for claims made by reason of any acts, errors or omissions committed in their capacity as trustees or officers. The policy will contain certain exclusions, among which is exclusion from coverage for active or deliberate dishonest or fraudulent acts and exclusion for fines or penalties imposed by law or other matters deemed uninsurable.

Item 31. Business and Other Connections of Investment Adviser

First Eagle Investment Management, LLC is the Registrant's investment adviser. Its primary office is located at 1345 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York, 10105. In addition to the Registrant, First Eagle Investment Management, LLC acts as investment adviser to First Eagle Variable Funds and to certain investment vehicles and accounts not subject to registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

First Eagle Investment Management, LLC is a subsidiary of First Eagle Holdings, Inc. ("First Eagle Holdings"), a privately-owned holding company organized under the laws of the State of New York, which has a substantial amount of assets under management in the form of individual accounts, and, through the Adviser, Fund accounts. In connection with another subsidiary, FEF Distributors, LLC, a registered broker-dealer, the principal underwriter to the Registrant, First Eagle Holdings is substantially involved in the distribution of mutual fund shares. The business and other connections of the Adviser's directors and officers are as follows:

Name	Position with the Adviser	Business and Other Connections	
Michael M. Kellen	Director	Director, First Eagle Holdings, Inc.; Director, FEF Distributors, LLC; Managing Member, New Eagle Holdings Management Company, LLC	
Mehdi Mahmud	President and Chief Executive Officer	President, First Eagle Funds and First Eagle Variable Funds; prior to March 2016, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Jennison Associates LLC; prior to 2012, Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer, Jennison Associates LLC	
David O'Connor	General Counsel and Senior Vice President	General Counsel, First Eagle Holdings, Inc.; Secretary and General Counsel, FEF Distributors, LLC; prior to January 2017, Investment Management Consultant; prior to June 2015, Executive Vice President Strategic Investment Initiatives and General Counsel, Delaware Investments	
Robert Bruno	Senior Vice President	President, FEF Distributors, LLC; Senior Vice President, First Eagle Funds and First Eagle Variable Funds	
Lynn Perkins	Chief Financial Officer	Prior to February 2013, Managing Director and Global Chief Operating Officer, Credit Suisse Asset Management, Distribution	
	C-5		

Name	Position with the Adviser	Business and Other Connections
Albert Pisano	Chief Compliance Officer, Senior Vice President	Chief Compliance Officer, First Eagle Funds and First Eagle Variable Funds; prior to June 30, 2014, Director and Chief Compliance Officer of Allianz Global Investors Fund Management LLC, and also served as Deputy Chief Compliance Officer for Allianz Global Investors U.S. LLC

Iridian Asset Management LLC ("Iridian"), whose primary office is located at 276 Post Road West, Westport, Connecticut 06880, is the investment sub-adviser to the First Eagle Fund of America. Iridian provides investment management services to other registered and unregistered investment companies, institutional investors and individuals. The business and other connections of Iridian's directors and officers are as follows:

Name	Position with Iridian	Business and Other Connections
David L. Cohen	Co-President, Co-Chief Executive Officer, and Co-Chief Investment Officer	
Harold J. Levy	Co-President, Co-Chief Executive Officer, and Co-Chief Investment Officer	
Jeffrey M. Elliott	Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary	
Lane Steven Bucklan	General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer	

Additional information regarding both First Eagle Investment Management, LLC and Iridian is provided in the body of this Registration Statement on Form N-1A under the heading "Investment Advisory and Other Services."

Item 32. Principal Underwriters

- (a) FEF Distributors, LLC is the Registrant's distributor (the "Distributor"). It also serves as principal underwriter for First Eagle Variable Funds.
- (b) The positions and offices of the Distributor's directors and officers who serve the Registrant are as follows:

Name and Business Address*	Position and Offices with Underwriter	Position and Offices with Registrant
Robert Bruno	President	Senior Vice President
David O'Connor	Secretary	None
Joseph Tropeano	Chief Compliance Officer	None
Suzan J. Afifi	Vice President	Secretary and Vice President
Michael Luzzatto	Vice President	Vice President

^{*} The address of each person named above is 1345 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10105.

(c) The Registrant has no principal underwriter which is not an affiliated person of the Registrant.

Item 33. Location of Accounts and Records

All accounts, books and other documents required to be maintained by Section 31(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 and the Rules promulgated thereunder are maintained at the offices of the Registrant, 1345 Avenue of

the Americas, New York, NY 10105 with the exception of certain accounts, books and other documents which are kept by the Registrant's custodian, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 4 Chase Metrotech Center, Floor 16, Brooklyn, New York, 11245 and registrar and shareholder servicing agent, DST Systems, Inc., P.O. Box 419324, Kansas City, Missouri, 64141-6324.

Item 34. Management Services

Not applicable.

Item 35. Undertakings

The Registrant undertakes to call a meeting of shareholders for the purpose of voting upon the question of removal of a director, if requested to do so by the holders of at least 10% of a Fund's outstanding shares, and that it will assist communication with other shareholders as required by Section 16(c) of the Investment Company Act of 1940.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Investment Company Act of 1940, the Registrant has duly caused this Post-Effective Amendment to its Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of New York and State of New York, as of the 5th day of July, 2017.

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS

By: /s/ MEHDI MAHMUD
MEHDI MAHMUD
PRESIDENT

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Post-Effective Amendment to the Registration Statement has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE	CAPACITY	DATE
/s/ LISA ANDERSON* (LISA ANDERSON)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ JOHN P. ARNHOLD* (JOHN P. ARNHOLD)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ JEAN-MARIE EVEILLARD* (JEAN-MARIE EVEILLARD)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ CANDACE K. BEINECKE* (CANDACE K. BEINECKE)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ JEAN D. HAMILTON* (JEAN D. HAMILTON)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ JAMES E. JORDAN* (JAMES E. JORDAN)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ WILLIAM M. KELLY* (WILLIAM M. KELLY)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ PAUL J. LAWLER* (PAUL J. LAWLER)	Trustee	July 5, 2017
/s/ JOSEPH MALONE* (JOSEPH MALONE)	Chief Financial Officer	July 5, 2017
*By: /S/ SUZAN AFIFI Suzan Afifi Power-of-Attorney		
	C-8	

SIGNATURES

First Eagle Global Cayman Fund, Ltd., First Eagle Overseas Cayman Fund, Ltd., First Eagle U.S. Value Cayman Fund, Ltd. and First Eagle Gold Cayman Fund, Ltd. has duly cause this Post-Effective Amendment to the Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of New York and State of New York, as of the 5th day of July, 2017.

FIRST EAGLE GLOBAL CAYMAN FUND, LTD. FIRST EAGLE OVERSEAS CAYMAN FUND, LTD. FIRST EAGLE U.S. VALUE CAYMAN FUND, LTD. FIRST EAGLE GOLD CAYMAN FUND, LTD.

SIGNATURE	CAPACITY	DATE
/s/ PETER HUBER* (PETER HUBER)	Director	July 5, 2017
/s/ GLENN MITCHELL* (GLENN MITCHELL)	Director	July 5, 2017
*By: /S/ SUZAN AFIFI Suzan Afifi Power-of-Attorney		
	C-9	

EXHIBIT INDEX

(d)(10)	FEIM side letter with respect to FEIM investment management fee amendment for First Eagle Fund of America
(g)(1)	Global Custody Agreement between the Registrant and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
(h)(6)	Fund Services Agreement between the Registrant and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

C-10

First Eagle Funds 1345 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10105

Re: Investment Management Fee for First Eagle Fund of America (the "Fund")

Dear First Eagle Funds:

This letter relates to the December 1, 2015 Investment Advisory Agreement (the "Agreement") and the February 23, 2016 Side Letter Agreement (the "2016 Letter") between First Eagle Funds on behalf of the Fund and First Eagle Investment Management, LLC (the "Investment Adviser"), which provides that the Fund will pay monthly an investment management fee at the annual rate of 0.90% of the first \$5 billion of the average daily net assets of the Fund, and 0.85% on the average daily net assets of the Fund in excess of \$5 billion of the average daily net assets of the Fund.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we intend by this letter, which supersedes in full the 2016 Letter, to bind the Investment Adviser to a modification of the Agreement to provide instead for the Fund to pay monthly an investment management fee at the annual rate of 0.90% of the first \$2.25 billion of the average daily net assets of the Fund, 0.85% of the next \$2.75 billion of the average daily net assets of the Fund, and 0.80% on the average daily net assets of the Fund in excess of \$5 billion of the average daily net assets of the Fund.

Pursuant to the Board's approval of the Fund of America management fee change in the June 8, 2017 Board meeting, we will consider us to be bound to this changed rate as of July 1, 2017. For the avoidance of doubt, this letter affects only the stated fee arrangement. No other provision of the Agreement is changed hereby.

By:	
Name: Mehdi Mahmud	
Title: President and CEO	

FIRST EAGLE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT, LLC

Table of Contents

1.	INTENTION OF THE PARTIES; DEFINITIONS	1
1.1.	Intention of the Parties	1
1.2.	Definitions; Interpretation	1
2.	WHAT J.P. MORGAN IS REQUIRED TO DO	4
2.1.	Set Up Accounts	4
2.2.	Cash Account	5
2.3.	Segregation of Assets; Nominee Name	5
2.4.	Settlement of Transactions	6
2.5.	Contractual Settlement Date Accounting	6
2.6.	Actual Settlement Date Accounting	7
2.7.	Income Collection (AutoCredit®)	7
2.8.	Miscellaneous Administrative Duties	7
2.9.	Corporate Actions	8
2.10.	Class Action Litigation	8
2.11.	Proxies	8
2.12.	Statements of Account	9
2.13.	Access to J.P. Morgan's Records	9
2.14.	Maintenance of Financial Assets at Subcustodian Locations	10
2.15.	Tax Relief Services	10
2.16.	Foreign Exchange Transactions	10
2.17.	Notifications	10
2.18.	Sealed Envelopes	10
3.	INSTRUCTIONS	13
3.1.	Acting on Instructions; Method of Instruction and Unclear Instructions	13
3.2.	Verification and Security Procedures	13
3.3.	Instructions; Contrary to Law/Market Practice	13
3.4.	Cut-Off Times	13
3.5.	Electronic Access	13
4.	FEES, EXPENSES AND OTHER AMOUNTS OWING TO J.P. MORGAN	14
4.1.	Fees and Expenses	14
4.2.	Overdrafts	14
4.3.	J.P. Morgan's Right Over Securities; Set-off	14
5.	SUBCUSTODIANS AND SECURITIES DEPOSITORIES	15
5.1.	Appointment of Subcustodians; Use of Securities Depositories	15
5.2.	Liability for Subcustodians	15
6.	ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS	16
6.1.	Representations of the Customer and J.P. Morgan	16
6.2.	The Customer is Liable to J.P. Morgan Even if it is Acting for Another Person	16
6.3.	Special Settlement Services	17
7.	WHEN J.P. MORGAN IS LIABLE TO THE CUSTOMER	17
7.1.	Standard of Care; Liability	17
7.1. 7.2.	Force Majeure	18
7.3.	J.P. Morgan May Consult With Counsel	18
-		. •

7.4. 7.5.	J.P. Morgan Provides Diverse Financial Services and May Generate Profits as a Result Assets Held Outside J.P. Morgan's Control	18 19
7.6.	Ancillary Services	19
7.7.	Service Locations	19
8.	TAXATION	19
8.1.	Tax Obligations	19
8.2.	Tax Relief Services	20
9.	TERMINATION	20
9.1.	Termination	20
9.2.	Exit Procedure	21
9.3.	Inactive Securities Accounts	21
10.	MISCELLANEOUS	22
10.1.	Notifications	22
10.2.	Successors and Assigns	22
10.3.	Entire Agreement and Amendments	22
10.4.	Information Concerning Deposits at J.P. Morgan's Non-U.S. Branch	22
10.5.	Insurance	22
10.6.	Security Holding Disclosure	23
10.7.	U.S. Regulatory Disclosure	23
10.8.	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	23
10.9.	Severability; Waiver; and Survival	24
10.10.	Confidentiality	24
10.11.	Use of J.P. Morgan's Name	24
10.12.	Counterparts	25
10.13.	No Third Party Beneficiaries	25
Exhibit A List of Entities		27
Schedule 1 List of Subcustodians and Markets Used by J.P. Morgan		28
Schedule 2 Form of Board Resolution		
Schedule 3 List of J.P. Morgan Investor Services Custody Restricted Markets		
Annex A Electronic Access		

GLOBAL CUSTODY AGREEMENT

This agreement, dated April 18, 2017 (the "Agreement"), is between JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. ("J.P. Morgan"), with a place of business at 4 Chase Metrotech Center, Floor 16, Brooklyn, New York, 11245; and each entity managed by First Eagle Investment Management, LLC that is set forth on Exhibit A (each, the "Customer") with a place of business at 1345 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10105.

1. INTENTION OF THE PARTIES; DEFINITIONS

1.1. Intention of the Parties

- This Agreement sets out the terms on which J.P. Morgan will provide custodial, settlement, asset servicing (a) and other associated services to the Customer. J.P. Morgan will be responsible for the performance of only those duties expressly set forth in this Agreement.
- (b) Investing in Financial Assets and cash in foreign jurisdictions may involve risks of loss or other burdens and costs. The Customer acknowledges that J.P. Morgan is not providing any legal, tax or investment advice in connection with the services under this Agreement and will not be liable for any losses resulting from Country Risk.
- (c) The terms and conditions of this Agreement are applicable only to the services which are specified in this Agreement.

1.2. Definitions; Interpretation

(a) Definitions

As used herein, the following terms have the meaning hereinafter stated.

- "Account" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.
- "Account Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).
- "Affiliated Subcustodian Bank" means a Subcustodian that is both a subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co. and either (i) a bank chartered or incorporated in the United States of America or (ii) a branch or subsidiary of such a bank.
- "AML/Sanctions Requirements" means (a) any Applicable Law (including but not limited to the rules and regulations of the United States Office of Foreign Assets Control) applicable to J.P. Morgan, or to any J.P. Morgan Affiliate engaged in servicing any Account, which governs (i) money laundering, the financing of terrorism, insider dealing or other unlawful activities, or the use of financial institutions to facilitate such activities or (ii) transactions involving individuals or institutions which have been prohibited by, or subject to, sanctions of any governmental authority; and (b) any J.P. Morgan policies and procedures reasonably designed to assure compliance with any such Applicable Law.
- "Applicable Law" means any applicable statute, treaty, rule, regulation or law (including common law) and any applicable decree, injunction, judgment, order, formal interpretation or ruling issued by a court or governmental entity.
- "Authorized Person" means any person who has been designated by written notice from the Customer in the form as provided by J.P. Morgan (or by written notice in the form as provided by J.P. Morgan from any agent designated by the Customer, including, without limitation, an investment manager) to act on behalf of the Customer under this Agreement and any person who has been given an access code by a security administrator appointed by the Customer which allows the provision of Instructions. Such persons will continue to be Authorized Persons until such time as J.P. Morgan receives and has had reasonable time to act upon Instructions from the Customer (or its agent) that any such person is no longer an Authorized Person.

"Cash Account" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(ii).

- "Confidential Information" means all non-public information concerning the Customer or the Accounts which J.P. Morgan receives in the course of providing services under this Agreement. Nevertheless, the term Confidential Information shall not include information which is or becomes available to the general public other than as a direct result of J.P. Morgan's breach of the terms of this Agreement or information which J.P. Morgan obtains on a non-confidential basis from a person who is not known to be subject to any obligation of confidence to any person with respect to that information.
- "Corporate Action" means any subscription right, bonus issue, stock repurchase plan, redemption, exchange, tender offer, or similar matter with respect to a Financial Asset in the Securities Account that requires discretionary action by the beneficial owner of the Financial Asset, but does not include rights with respect to class action litigation or proxy voting.
- "Country Risk" means the risk of investing or holding assets in a particular country or market, including, but not limited to, risks arising from nationalization, expropriation or other governmental actions; the country's financial infrastructure, including prevailing custody, tax and settlement practices; laws applicable to the safekeeping and recovery of Financial Assets and cash held in custody; the regulation of the banking and securities industries, including changes in market rules; currency restrictions, devaluations or fluctuations; and market conditions affecting the orderly execution of securities transactions or the value of assets.
- "Eligible Foreign Custodian" means (i) a banking institution or trust company, incorporated or organized under the laws of a country other than the United States, that is regulated as such by that country's government or an agency thereof, and (ii) a majority-owned direct or indirect subsidiary of a U.S. Bank (as defined in rule 17f-5(a)(7)) or bank holding company which subsidiary is incorporated or organized under the laws of a country other than the United States. In addition, an Eligible Foreign Custodian shall also mean any other entity that shall have been so qualified by exemptive order, rule or other appropriate action of the SEC.
- "Eligible Securities Depository" shall have the same meaning as in rule 17f-7(b)(1)(i)-(vi) as the same may be amended from time to time, or that has otherwise been made exempt pursuant to an SEC exemptive order; provided that, prior to the compliance date with rule 17f-7 for a particular securities depository the term "securities depositories" shall be as defined in (a)(1)(ii)-(iii) of the 1997 amendments to rule 17f-5.
- "Entitlement Holder" means the person named on the records of a Securities Intermediary as the person having a Security Entitlement against the Securities Intermediary.
- **"Financial Asset"** means a Security, Gold, and Silver, and refers, as the context requires, either to the asset itself or to the means by which a person's claim to it is evidenced, including, without limitation, for a Security, a security certificate or a Security Entitlement and for Gold and Silver, the serial numbers or other identification marks. "Financial Asset" does not include cash.
- "Fund" means each separate portfolio of the First Eagle Funds and First Eagle Variable Funds.
- "Gold" means gold bars, custodied on an allocated basis, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties.
- "Instruction" means an instruction that has been verified in accordance with a Security Procedure or, if no Security Procedure is applicable, that J.P. Morgan believes, in its commercially reasonable discretion, to have been given by an Authorized Person.
- "J.P. Morgan Affiliate" means an entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with J.P. Morgan.
- **"J.P. Morgan Indemnitees"** means J.P. Morgan, J.P. Morgan Affiliates, Subcustodians, and their respective nominees, directors, officers, employees and agents.
- **"Liabilities"** means any liabilities, losses, claims, costs, damages, penalties, fines, obligations, taxes (other than taxes based solely on J.P. Morgan's income), or expenses of any kind whatsoever (whether actual or contingent and including, without limitation, attorneys', accountants', consultants' and experts' fees and disbursements reasonably incurred and, where relevant, any and all amounts owing to J.P.

Morgan by Customer's counterparty in connection with collateral Accounts or control Accounts established at J.P. Morgan pursuant to the Customer's Instruction) outstanding from time to time.

- "Proxy Voting Service" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(a).
- "Sealed Envelope" means a sealed envelope which the Customer requests J.P. Morgan to hold in custody. Nothing in this definition shall obligate J.P. Morgan to accept any such Sealed Envelope.
- "Secured Liabilities" means Customer's obligation to (i) pay any unpaid fees to J.P. Morgan, and (ii) repay any extension of credit made by J.P. Morgan or its Affiliates in the normal course of business for the purpose of (A) clearing and settling purchases or sales of Securities for which Customer has not yet delivered sufficient cash into the Cash Account or Securities into the Securities Account, (B) funding any cash payment related to clearing and settling the purchase or sale of an asset or other investment vehicle, including cash payments related to a purchase or sale of foreign currencies or precious metals for which Customer has not yet delivered sufficient cash into the Cash Account, or (C) the advancement of funds in relation to Contractual Settlement Date Accounting as described in Section 2.5, which in each case was intended by J.P. Morgan to be a short-term extension of credit when made.
- "Securities" means shares, stocks, debentures, bonds, notes or other like obligations, whether issued in certificated or uncertificated form, and any certificates, receipts, warrants or other instruments representing rights to receive, purchase or subscribe for the same that are commonly traded or dealt in on securities exchanges or financial markets and any other property as may be acceptable to J.P. Morgan for the Securities Account.
- "Securities Account" means each Securities custody account on J.P. Morgan's records to which Financial Assets are or may be credited under this Agreement.
- "Securities Depository" means any securities depository, clearing corporation, dematerialized book entry system or similar system for the central handling of Securities, whether or not acting in that capacity. The term 'Securities Depository' as used in this Agreement when referring to a securities depository located in the U.S. shall mean a 'securities depository' as defined in rule 17f-4(c)(6).
- "Security Entitlement" means the rights and property interests of an Entitlement Holder with respect to a Financial Asset as set forth in Part 5 of Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of New York, as the same may be amended from time to time.
- "Securities Intermediary" means J.P. Morgan, a Subcustodian, a Securities Depository and any other financial institution which in the ordinary course of business maintains Securities custody accounts for others and acts in that capacity.
- "Security Procedure" means a security procedure to be followed by the Customer upon the issuance of an instruction and/or by J.P. Morgan upon the receipt of an instruction, so as to enable J.P. Morgan to verify that such instruction is authorized, as set forth in service level documentation in effect from time to time with respect to the services set forth in this Agreement, or as otherwise agreed in writing by the parties. A Security Procedure may, without limitation, involve the use of algorithms, codes, passwords, encryption or telephone call backs, and may be updated by J.P. Morgan from time to time upon notice to the Customer. The Customer acknowledges that the Security Procedure is designed to verify the authenticity of, and not to detect errors in, instructions. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that a SWIFT message issued in the name of the Customer through any third party utility that the parties have agreed as an utility through which instructions may be provided hereunder and authenticated in accordance with that utility's customary procedures, shall be deemed to be an authorized instruction; provided that nothing in the foregoing clause shall require Customer to use SWIFT messaging as a method for providing Instructions.
- "Silver" means silver bars, custodied on an allocated basis, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties.
- "Subcustodian" means any of the subcustodians appointed by J.P. Morgan from time to time to hold Financial Assets and act on its behalf in different jurisdictions (and being at the date of this Agreement the entities listed in 0 List of Subcustodians and Markets Used by J.P. Morgan) and includes any Affiliated Subcustodian Bank.

(b) Interpretation

- (i) Headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not in any way form part of or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.
- Unless otherwise expressly stated to the contrary herein, references to articles and sections are to articles and sections of this Agreement and references to sub-sections and paragraphs are to sub-sections of the Sections and paragraphs of the sub-sections in which they appear.
- Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Agreement to "persons" shall include legal as well as natural entities; references importing the singular shall include the plural (and vice versa); use of the generic masculine pronoun shall include the feminine (and vice versa); use of the term "including" shall be deemed to mean "including but not limited" to, and references to appendices and numbered
- shall be deemed to mean "including but not limited" to, and references to appendices and numbered sections shall be to such addenda and provisions herein; all such addenda are hereby incorporated in this Agreement by reference.
- Unless the context requires otherwise, any reference to a statute or a statutory provision shall include such statute or provision as from time modified to the extent such modification applies to any service provided hereunder. Any reference to a statute or a statutory provision shall also include any subordinate legislation made from time to time under that statute or provision.

2. WHAT J.P. MORGAN IS REQUIRED TO DO

2.1. Set Up Accounts

- (a) J.P. Morgan will establish and maintain the following accounts ("Accounts"):
 - one or more Securities Accounts in the name of the Customer (or in another name requested by the Customer that is acceptable to J.P. Morgan) for the safekeeping of Financial Assets, which may be held by J.P. Morgan, a Subcustodian or a Securities Depository for J.P. Morgan on behalf of the Customer, including as an Entitlement Holder; and
 - one or more cash accounts in the name of the Customer (each, a "Cash Account") (or in another name (ii) requested by the Customer that is acceptable to J.P. Morgan) for the safekeeping of any and all cash in any currency received by or on behalf of J.P. Morgan for the account of the Customer.

Notwithstanding paragraph 2.1(a)(ii), cash held in respect of those markets where the Customer is required to have a cash account in its own name held directly with the relevant Subcustodian or Securities Depository will be held in that manner and will not be part of the Cash Account.

- (b) At the request of the Customer, additional Accounts may be opened in the future, and such additional Accounts shall be subject to the terms of this Agreement.
 - In the event that the Customer requests the opening of any additional Account for the purpose of holding collateral pledged by the Customer to a securities exchange, clearing corporation, or other central counterparty (a "Counterparty") to secure trading activity by the Customer, or the pledge to a Counterparty of cash or individual Securities held in an Account, that Account (or the pledged cash or Securities) shall be subject to the collateral arrangements in effect between J.P. Morgan and the Counterparty in addition to the
- Upon thirty (30) days' prior notice to the Customer, J.P. Morgan may close any Account that it reasonably determines to be dormant. In the case of a dormant Cash Account, J.P. Morgan may, upon closure of the Account, pay any de minimis balances in that Cash Account into another Cash

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 4

terms of this Agreement.

Account of the Customer, and is authorized to enter into with Customer any foreign exchange transactions needed to facilitate the payment, as contemplated by Section 2.16 of this Agreement

- (e) J.P. Morgan's obligation to open Accounts pursuant to Section 2.1(a) is conditional upon J.P. Morgan receiving such of the following documents as J.P. Morgan may require:
 - (i) a certified copy of the Customer's constitutional documents as in force at the time of receipt;
 - evidence reasonably satisfactory to J.P. Morgan of the due authorization and execution of this Agreement (ii) by the Customer (for example by a certified copy of a resolution of the Customer's board of directors or equivalent governing body, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 Form of Board Resolution);
 - (iii) fund manager mandate completed by the fund manager designated by the Customer;
 - (iv) information about the Customer's financial status, such as its audited and unaudited financial statements; and
 - in the case of any Account opened in a name other than that of the Customer, documentation with respect to that name similar to that set forth in sub-sections (i) (iv).

2.2. Cash Account

- (a) Any amount standing to the credit of the Cash Account will be either:
 - deposited during the period it is credited to the Accounts in one or more deposit accounts at J.P. Morgan's head office or at one of its non-U.S. branch offices and will constitute a debt owing to the Customer by J.P. Morgan as banker, provided that (A) any cash so deposited with a non-U.S. branch office will be payable exclusively by that branch office in the applicable currency, subject to compliance with Applicable
 - (i) Law, including, without limitation, any restrictions on transactions in the applicable currency imposed by the country of the applicable currency and (B) from time to time, J.P. Morgan may, in its discretion, pay interest on any such deposit account at a rate to be determined by J.P. Morgan (or charge interest if, at the time, the prevailing interest rate in the relevant market for similar deposits in the same currency is negative); or
 - placed by J.P. Morgan with a bank or other financial institution in the country in which the applicable currency is issued, in which case the deposit will constitute a debt owing to the Customer by that bank or other financial institution and not J.P. Morgan, payable exclusively in the applicable currency at that bank or financial institution.
- Any amounts credited by J.P. Morgan to the Cash Account on the basis of a notice or an interim credit from a third party, may be reversed if J.P. Morgan does not receive final payment in a timely manner. J.P. Morgan will notify the Customer promptly of any such reversal.

2.3. Segregation of Assets; Nominee Name

- (a) J.P. Morgan will identify in its books that Financial Assets credited to the Customer's Securities Account belong to the Customer (except as may be otherwise agreed by J.P. Morgan and the Customer).
- To the extent permitted by Applicable Law or market practice, J.P. Morgan will require each Subcustodian to identify in its own books that Financial Assets held at such Subcustodian by J.P. Morgan on behalf of its customers belong to customers of J.P. Morgan, such that it is readily apparent that the Financial Assets do not belong to J.P. Morgan or the Subcustodian. J.P. Morgan

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 5



will notify Customer promptly following J.P. Morgan becoming aware of a Sub-Custodian that holds Customer's Financial Assets failing to segregate customer assets from its proprietary assets.

- (c) J.P. Morgan is authorized, in its discretion to:
 - (i) hold in bearer form such Financial Assets as are customarily held in bearer form or are delivered to J.P. Morgan or its Subcustodian in bearer form;
 - (ii) hold Financial Assets in or deposit Financial Assets with any Securities Depository;
 - (iii) hold Financial Assets in omnibus accounts on a fungible basis and to accept delivery of Financial Assets of the same class and denomination as those deposited by the Customer;
 - register in the name of the Customer, J.P. Morgan, a Subcustodian, a Securities Depository or their respective nominees, such Financial Assets as are customarily held in registered form; and
 - (v) decline to accept any asset or property which it deems to be unsuitable or inconsistent with its custodial operations.

2.4. Settlement of Transactions

Subject to Article 3 and Section 4.2 of this Agreement, J.P. Morgan will act in accordance with Instructions with respect to settlement of transactions. Settlement of transactions will be conducted in accordance with prevailing standards of the market in which the transaction occurs. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Customer authorizes J.P. Morgan to deliver Financial Assets or payment in accordance with applicable market practice in advance of receipt or settlement of consideration expected in connection with such delivery or payment, and the Customer acknowledges and agrees that such action alone will not of itself constitute negligence, fraud, or willful misconduct of J.P. Morgan, and the risk of loss arising from any such action will be borne by the Customer. In the case of the failure of the Customer's counterparty (or other appropriate party) to deliver the expected consideration as agreed, J.P. Morgan will notify the Customer of such failure. If the Customer's counterparty continues to fail to deliver the expected consideration, J.P. Morgan will provide information reasonably requested by the Customer that J.P. Morgan has in its possession to allow the Customer to enforce rights that the Customer has against the Customer's counterparty, but neither J.P. Morgan nor its Subcustodians will be obliged to institute legal proceedings, file a proof of claim in any insolvency proceeding or take any similar action.

2.5. Contractual Settlement Date Accounting

- (a)

 J.P. Morgan will effect book entries on a contractual settlement date accounting basis as described below with respect to the settlement for those Financial Assets and transactions as to which J.P. Morgan customarily offers contractual settlement date accounting. J.P. Morgan reserves the right to restrict in good faith the availability of contractual settlement date accounting for credit or operational reasons.
 - (i) Sales: On the settlement date for a sale, J.P. Morgan will credit the Cash Account with the proceeds of the sale and post the Securities Account as pending delivery of the relevant Financial Assets.
 - Purchases: On the settlement date for a purchase (or earlier, if market practice requires delivery of the purchase price before the settlement date), J.P. Morgan will debit the Cash Account for the settlement
 - (ii) amount. J.P. Morgan will then post the Securities Account as awaiting receipt of the expected Financial Assets. The Customer will not be entitled to the delivery of Financial Assets until J.P. Morgan or a Subcustodian actually receives them.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 6



Upon request, J.P. Morgan shall provide the Customer with a list of those markets for which it provides contractual settlement date accounting. J.P. Morgan may add markets to or remove markets from such list upon reasonable notice to the Customer.

- J.P. Morgan may reverse any debit or credit made pursuant to Section 2.5(a) prior to a transaction's actual settlement upon notice to the Customer in cases where J.P. Morgan reasonably believes that the transaction
- (b) will not settle in the ordinary course within a reasonable time. The Customer will be responsible for any Liabilities resulting from such reversal. The Customer acknowledges that the procedures described in Section 2.5 are of an administrative nature, and J.P. Morgan does not undertake to make loans of cash and/or Financial Assets available to the Customer.

2.6. Actual Settlement Date Accounting

With respect to settlement of any transaction that is not posted to the Account on the contractual settlement date as referred to in Section 2.5, J.P. Morgan will post such transaction on the date on which the cash or Financial Assets received as consideration for the transaction is actually received and settled by J.P. Morgan.

2.7. Income Collection (AutoCredit®)

- J.P. Morgan will monitor information publicly available in the applicable market about forthcoming income
 (a) payments on the Financial Assets held in the Securities Account, and will promptly notify the Customer of such information.
 - J.P. Morgan will credit the Cash Account with income proceeds on Financial Assets on the anticipated payment date, net of any taxes that are withheld by J.P. Morgan or any third party ("AutoCredit") for those Financial Assets and/or markets for which J.P. Morgan customarily offers an AutoCredit service. However, J.P. Morgan reserves the right to restrict in good faith the availability of AutoCredit for credit or operational reasons. Upon
- (b) request, J.P. Morgan shall provide the Customer with a list of AutoCredit eligible markets. J.P. Morgan may add markets to or remove markets from the list of AutoCredit markets upon notice to the Customer that is reasonable in the circumstances. J.P. Morgan may reverse AutoCredit credits upon oral or written notification to the Customer if J.P. Morgan believes that the corresponding payment will not be received by J.P. Morgan within a reasonable period or the credit was incorrect.
- (c) When the AutoCredit service is not available, income on Financial Assets, net of any taxes withheld by J.P. Morgan or any third party, will be credited only after actual receipt and reconciliation by J.P. Morgan.
- J.P. Morgan will use reasonable efforts to contact appropriate parties to collect unpaid interest, dividends or redemption proceeds and notify the Customer of the late payment, but neither J.P. Morgan nor its Subcustodians will be obliged to file any formal notice of default, institute legal proceedings, file a proof of claim in any insolvency proceeding or take any similar action.

2.8. Miscellaneous Administrative Duties

- (a) Until J.P. Morgan receives Instructions to the contrary, J.P. Morgan will:
 - present all Financial Assets for which J.P. Morgan has received notice of a call for redemption or that have otherwise matured, and all income and interest coupons and other income items that call for payment upon presentation:
 - (ii) execute in the name of the Customer such certificates as may be required to obtain payment in respect of Financial Assets; and

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 7

- (iii) exchange interim or temporary documents of title held in the Securities Account for definitive documents of title.
- In the event that, as a result of holding of Financial Assets in an omnibus account, the Customer receives fractional interests in Financial Assets arising out of a Corporate Action or class action litigation, J.P. Morgan (b) will credit the Customer with the amount of cash the Customer would have received, as reasonably determined by J.P. Morgan, had the Financial Assets not been held in an omnibus account, and the Customer shall relinquish to J.P. Morgan its interest in such fractional interests.
- If some, but not all, of an outstanding class of Financial Assets is called for redemption, J.P. Morgan may allot (c) the amount redeemed among the respective beneficial holders of such a class of Financial Assets on a pro rata basis or in a similar manner J.P. Morgan deems fair and equitable.
- (d) J.P. Morgan reserves the right to reverse any transactions that are credited to the Accounts due to mis-postings and other similar actions.

2.9. Corporate Actions

- J.P. Morgan will act in accordance with local market practice to obtain information concerning Corporate Actions that is publicly available in the local market. J.P. Morgan also will review information obtained from
- (a) sources to which J.P. Morgan subscribes for information concerning such Corporate Actions. J.P. Morgan will promptly provide that information (or summaries that reflect the material points concerning the applicable Corporate Action) to the Customer or its Authorized Person.
 - J.P. Morgan will act in accordance with the Customer's Instructions in relation to such Corporate Actions. If the Customer fails to provide J.P. Morgan with timely Instructions with respect to any Corporate Action, neither J.P.
- (b) Morgan nor its Subcustodians or their respective nominees will take any action in relation to that Corporate Action, except as otherwise agreed in writing by J.P. Morgan and the Customer or as may be set forth by J.P. Morgan as a default action in the notification it provides under Section 2.9(a) with respect to that Corporate Action.
- When instructed by the Customer, subject to availability in the market, J.P. Morgan, or a J.P. Morgan Affiliate, (c) shall place orders for the sale of rights offerings that the Customer received from Corporate Actions. A current list of markets in which this service is being offered is available from J.P. Morgan on request.

2.10. Class Action Litigation

Any notices received by J.P. Morgan's corporate actions department about settled securities class action litigation that requires action by affected owners of the underlying Financial Assets will be promptly notified to the Customer if J.P. Morgan, using reasonable care and diligence in the circumstances, identifies that the Customer was a shareholder and held the relevant Financial Assets in custody with J.P. Morgan at the relevant time. J.P. Morgan will not make filings in the name of the Customer in respect to such notifications except as otherwise agreed in writing between the Customer and J.P. Morgan. The services set forth in this Section 2.10 are available only in certain markets, details of which are available from J.P. Morgan on request.

2.11. Proxies

J.P. Morgan will monitor information distributed to holders of Financial Assets about upcoming shareholder (a) meetings, promptly notify the Customer of such information and, subject to Section 2.11(c), act in accordance with the Customer's Instructions in relation to such meetings (the "Proxy Voting Service").

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 8



- The Proxy Voting Service is available only in certain markets, details of which are available from J.P. Morgan on (b) request. Provision of the Proxy Voting Service is conditional upon receipt by J.P. Morgan of a duly completed enrollment form as well as all documentation that may be required for certain markets.
- The Proxy Voting Service does not include physical attendance at shareholder meetings. Requests for physical attendance at shareholder meetings can be made but they will be evaluated and agreed to by J.P. Morgan on a case by case basis.
- (d) The Customer acknowledges that the provision of the Proxy Voting Service may be precluded or restricted under a variety of circumstances. These circumstances include, but are not limited to:
 - (i) the Financial Assets being on loan or out for registration;
 - (ii) the pendency of conversion or another corporate action;
 - (iii) the Financial Assets being held in a margin or collateral account at J.P. Morgan or another bank or broker, or otherwise in a manner which affects voting;
 - (iv) local market regulations or practices, or restrictions by the issuer; and
 - J.P. Morgan being required to vote all shares held for a particular issue for all of J.P. Morgan's customers(v) on a net basis (i.e., a net yes or no vote based on voting instructions received from all its customers).Where this is the case, J.P. Morgan will notify the Customer.

2.12. Statements of Account

- J.P. Morgan will provide the Customer with electronic access to Account information (the "Information") that will enable the Customer to generate or receive reports and statements of account for each Account and to identify Account Assets as well as Account transactions. The Customer will review the Information and give
- (a) J.P. Morgan written notice of (i) any suspected error or omission or (ii) the Customer's inability to access any such Information. The Customer will provide J.P. Morgan such notice within a reasonable time after (x) the Information is made available to the Customer or (y) the Customer discovers that it is unable to access the Information, as the case may be.
 - The Customer acknowledges that Information available to it electronically with respect to transactions posted after the close of the prior business day may not be accurate due to mis-postings, delays in updating Account
- (b) records, and other causes. J.P. Morgan will not be liable for any loss or damage arising out of any such information accessed electronically that is subsequently updated or corrected by the close of business on the first business day after the original transaction was posted.

2.13. Access to J.P. Morgan's Records

- J.P. Morgan will, upon reasonable written notice, allow the Customer's auditors and independent public accountants such reasonable access to the records of J.P. Morgan relating to the Accounts as may be required
- in connection with their examination of books and records pertaining to the Customer's affairs. Subject to restrictions under the relevant local law, J.P. Morgan shall direct any Subcustodian to permit the Customer's auditors and independent public accountants, reasonable access to the records of any Subcustodian of Financial Assets held in the Securities Account as may be required in connection with such examination.
- (b) J.P. Morgan will, upon reasonable written notice, allow the Customer reasonable access during normal working hours to the records of J.P. Morgan relating to the Accounts. The Customer shall

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 9

reimburse J.P. Morgan for the reasonable cost of copying, collating and researching archived information.

2.14. Maintenance of Financial Assets at Subcustodian Locations

Unless Instructions require another location acceptable to J.P. Morgan, Financial Assets will be held in the country or jurisdiction in which their principal trading market is located, where such Financial Assets may be presented for payment, where such Financial Assets were acquired, or where such Financial Assets are

- (a) located. J.P. Morgan reserves the right to refuse to accept delivery of Financial Assets or cash in countries and jurisdictions other than those referred to in 0 List of Subcustodians and Markets Used by J.P. Morgan, as in effect from time to time. J.P. Morgan may modify 0 List of Subcustodians and Markets Used by J.P. Morgan from time to time upon notice to the Customer.
 - J.P. Morgan reserves the right to restrict the services it provides in certain markets that are deemed by J.P. Morgan to be restricted markets from time to time. A current list of these markets, and a summary of the related
- (b) restrictions, is set forth on Schedule 2 List of J.P. Morgan Investor Services Custody Restricted Markets. J.P. Morgan may update Schedule 2 List of J.P. Morgan Investor Services Custody Restricted Markets from time to time upon notice to the Customer.

2.15. Tax Relief Services

J.P. Morgan will provide tax relief services as provided in Section 8.2.

2.16. Foreign Exchange Transactions

To facilitate the administration of the Customer's trading and investment activity, J.P. Morgan may, but will not be obliged to, enter into spot or forward foreign exchange contracts with the Customer, or an Authorized Person, and may also provide foreign exchange contracts and facilities through J.P. Morgan Affiliates or Subcustodians. Instructions, including standing Instructions, may be issued with respect to such contracts and facilities, but J.P. Morgan may establish rules or limitations concerning any foreign exchange contract or facility made available. In all cases where J.P. Morgan or J.P. Morgan Affiliates or Subcustodians enter into foreign exchange contracts or facilities with the Customer, J.P. Morgan will not be executing or otherwise placing any foreign exchange transaction as the Customer's agent, and such transactions will be governed by the terms and conditions of such foreign exchange contracts or facilities (as the case may be). Such foreign exchange contracts and facilities shall not be deemed as part of the custodial, settlement or associated services under this Agreement. With respect to the Customer's foreign exchange contracts or facilities with J.P. Morgan, J.P. Morgan will be acting as the Customer's principal counterparty on such foreign exchange contracts or facilities (as the case may be).

2.17. Notifications

If the Customer has agreed to access information concerning the Accounts through J.P. Morgan's website, J.P. Morgan may make any notifications required under this Agreement, other than notifications pursuant to Article 9, by posting it on the website.

2.18. Sealed Envelopes

From time to time, at the Customer's request, J.P. Morgan may agree to hold certain Sealed Envelopes in custody for the Customer. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, J.P. Morgan's sole responsibility with regards to Sealed Envelopes will be to hold them in J.P. Morgan's or in a Subcustodian's possession. J.P. Morgan shall not be responsible for verifying the content of any Sealed Envelope purported to contain assets or assessing the value, validity or transferability of any such assets (including the existence or value of any investments contained in any Sealed Envelope). With respect to Sealed Envelopes, neither J.P. Morgan nor its Subcustodians will be obligated to perform any service or action described in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, asset servicing, tax services, corporate actions, income or dividend collection, settlement services or class action litigation.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 10



2.19. Compliance With Securities And Exchange Commission ("SEC") Rule 17f-5 ("Rule 17f-5").

Customer's board of directors (or equivalent body) (hereinafter 'Board') hereby delegates to J.P. Morgan, and, except as to the country or countries as to which J.P. Morgan may, from time to time, advise Customer that it does not accept such delegation, J.P. Morgan hereby accepts the delegation to it, of the obligation to perform as Customer's 'Foreign Custody Manager' (as that term is defined in rule 17f-5(a)(3) as promulgated under

- the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended ("1940 Act")), including for the purposes of: (i) selecting Subcustodians to hold foreign Financial Assets and Cash, (ii) evaluating the contractual arrangements with such Subcustodians (as set forth in rule 17f-5(c)(2)), (iii) monitoring such foreign custody arrangements (as set forth in rule 17f-5(c)(3)).
- (b) In connection with the foregoing, J.P. Morgan shall:

provide written reports notifying Customer's Board of the placement of Financial Assets and Cash with particular Subcustodians and of any material change in the arrangements with such Subcustodians, with such reports to be provided to Customer's Board at such times as the Board deems reasonable and

- (i) appropriate based on the circumstances of Customer's foreign custody arrangements (and until further notice from Customer such reports shall be provided not less than quarterly with respect to the placement of Financial Assets and Cash with particular Subcustodians and with reasonable promptness upon the occurrence of any material change in the arrangements with such Subcustodians);
- exercise such reasonable care, prudence and diligence in performing as Customer's Foreign Custody
 (ii) Manager as a person having responsibility for the safekeeping of foreign Financial Assets and cash would exercise;

in selecting a Subcustodian, first have determined that foreign Financial Assets and cash placed and maintained in the safekeeping of such Subcustodian shall be subject to reasonable care, based on the

- (iii) standards applicable to custodians in the relevant market, after having considered all factors relevant to the safekeeping of such foreign Financial Assets and cash, including, without limitation, those factors set forth in rule 17f-5(c)(1)(i)-(iv);
- determine that the written contract with a Subcustodian requires that the Subcustodian shall provide (iv) reasonable care for foreign Financial Assets and Cash based on the standards applicable to custodians in the relevant market.

have established a system to monitor the continued appropriateness of maintaining foreign Financial Assets and cash with particular Subcustodians and of the governing contractual arrangements; it being understood, however, that in the event that J.P. Morgan shall have determined that the existing

(v) Subcustodian in a given country would no longer afford foreign Financial Assets and cash reasonable care and that no other Subcustodian in that country would afford reasonable care, J.P. Morgan shall promptly so advise Customer and shall then act in accordance with the Instructions of Customer with respect to the disposition of the affected foreign Financial Assets and cash.

Subject to (b)(i)-(v) above, J.P. Morgan is hereby authorized to place and maintain foreign Financial Assets and cash on behalf of Customer with Subcustodians pursuant to a written contract deemed appropriate by J.P. Morgan.

J.P. Morgan shall use reasonable efforts for markets for which it is acting as Foreign Custody Manager to use as its Subcustodians entities that are Eligible Foreign Subcustodians. In cases where due to (i) Applicable Law in a market or (ii) market practice or market conditions it is not practicable to have the subcustody services performed by an Eligible Foreign Custodian, J.P. Morgan shall promptly advise the Customer of the circumstances, including any mitigants that may support a conclusion that the arrangement may nevertheless comply with rule 17f-5.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 11

- Except as expressly provided herein, Customer shall be solely responsible to assure that the maintenance (d) of foreign Financial Assets and cash hereunder complies with the rules, regulations, interpretations and exemptive orders as promulgated by or under the authority of the SEC.
 - J.P. Morgan represents to Customer that it is a U.S. Bank as defined in rule 17f-5(a)(7). Customer represents to J.P. Morgan that: (1) the foreign Financial Assets and cash being placed and maintained in J.P. Morgan's custody are subject to the 1940 Act, as the same may be amended from time to time; (2) its Board: (i) has determined that it is reasonable to rely on J.P. Morgan to perform as Customer's Foreign Custody Manager
- (e)

 (ii) or its investment adviser shall have determined that Customer may maintain foreign Financial Assets and cash in each country in which Customer's Financial Assets and cash shall be held hereunder and determined to accept Country Risk. Nothing contained herein shall require J.P. Morgan to make any selection or to engage in any monitoring on behalf of Customer that would entail consideration of Country Risk.
- J.P. Morgan shall provide to Customer such information relating to Country Risk as is specified in Appendix 1 hereto. Customer hereby acknowledges that: (i) such information is solely designed to inform Customer of market conditions and procedures and is not intended as a recommendation to invest or not invest in particular markets; and (ii) J.P. Morgan has gathered the information from sources it considers reliable, but that J.P. Morgan shall have no responsibility for inaccuracies or incomplete information.

2.20. Compliance with SEC Rule 17f-7 ("rule 17f-7").

- J.P. Morgan shall, for consideration by Customer, provide an analysis of the custody risks associated with maintaining Customer's foreign Financial Assets with each Eligible Securities Depository used by J.P. Morgan as of the date hereof (or, in the case of an Eligible Securities Depository not used by J.P. Morgan as of the date hereof, prior to the initial placement of Customer's foreign Financial Assets at such Depository) and at which any foreign Financial Assets of Customer are held or are expected to be held. The foregoing analysis will be provided to Customer at J.P. Morgan's Website. In connection with the foregoing, (i) Customer shall notify J.P. Morgan of any Eligible Securities Depositories at which it does not choose to have its foreign Financial Assets
- (a) Morgan of any Eligible Securities Depositories at which it does not choose to have its foreign Financial Assets held and hereby covenants that it will not issue any Instructions to J.P. Morgan to hold its foreign Financial Assets at such Eligible Securities Depositories, (ii) Customer hereby waives, and releases J.P. Morgan from, any liability that J.P Morgan may incur to Customer in connection with any Instructions delivered to J.P. Morgan in contravention of such notification and (iii) Customer shall be solely liable for any Instructions delivered to J.P. Morgan in contravention of such notification. J.P. Morgan shall monitor the custody risks associated with maintaining Customer's foreign Financial Assets at each such Eligible Securities Depository on a continuing basis and shall promptly notify Customer or its adviser of any material changes in such risks.
- (b) J.P. Morgan shall exercise reasonable care, prudence and diligence in performing the requirements set forth in Section 2.19(a) above.
- Attached as Schedule 2 is a list of the Securities Depositories currently used through J.P. Morgan's network, identifying which of those Securities Depositories are not Eligible Securities Depositories. In the exercise of diligence, J.P. Morgan shall determine the eligibility under rule 17f-7 of each Securities Depository included on Schedule 2 hereto and shall promptly advise Customer if any Securities Depository listed as an Eligible Securities Depository ceases to be eligible. (J.P. Morgan may amend Schedule 2 from time to time and shall advise the Customer of such change via electronic means).

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 12

3. INSTRUCTIONS

3.1. Acting on Instructions; Method of Instruction and Unclear Instructions

The Customer authorizes J.P. Morgan to accept, rely upon and/or act upon any Instructions. The Customer will indemnify J.P. Morgan Indemnitees against, and hold each of them harmless from, any Liabilities that may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against J.P. Morgan Indemnitees as a result of any action or omission taken in accordance with any Instruction unless the Liabilities result from an act of negligence, fraud or willful misconduct on the part of the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees with respect to the manner in which such Instructions are followed.

- To the extent possible, instructions to J.P. Morgan shall be sent via electronic instruction or trade information (b) system acceptable to J.P. Morgan or via facsimile transmission. Where reasonably practicable, the Customer will use automated and electronic methods of sending instructions.
- J.P. Morgan shall promptly notify an Authorized Person if J.P. Morgan determines that an Instruction does not contain all information reasonably necessary for J.P. Morgan to carry out the Instruction. J.P. Morgan may decline to act upon an Instruction if it does not receive clarification or confirmation satisfactory to it. J.P. Morgan will not be liable for any loss arising from any reasonable delay in carrying out any such Instruction while it seeks any such missing information, clarification or confirmation or in declining to act upon any Instruction for which it does not receive clarification satisfactory to it.

3.2. Verification and Security Procedures

- J.P. Morgan and the Customer shall comply with any applicable Security Procedures with respect to the delivery or authentication of Instructions and shall ensure that any codes, passwords or similar devices are reasonably safeguarded.
- (b) Either party may record any of their telephone communications.

3.3. Instructions; Contrary to Law/Market Practice

J.P. Morgan need not act upon Instructions that it reasonably believes are contrary to law, regulation or market practice. J.P. Morgan shall be under no duty to investigate whether any Instructions comply with Applicable Law or market practice. In the event that J.P. Morgan does not act upon such Instructions, J.P. Morgan will notify the Customer where reasonably practicable.

3.4. Cut-Off Times

J.P. Morgan has established cut-off times for receipt of Instructions, which will be made available to the Customer. If J.P. Morgan receives an Instruction after its established cut-off time, J.P. Morgan will attempt on a reasonable efforts basis to act upon the Instruction on the day requested only if J.P. Morgan deems it practicable to do so or otherwise as soon as practicable after the day on which the Instruction was received.

3.5. Electronic Access

Access by the Customer to certain applications or products of J.P. Morgan via J.P. Morgan's website or otherwise shall be governed by this Agreement and the terms and conditions set forth in Annex A Electronic Access.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 13



4. FEES, EXPENSES AND OTHER AMOUNTS OWING TO J.P. MORGAN

4.1. Fees and Expenses

The Customer will pay J.P. Morgan for its services under this Agreement such fees as may be agreed upon in writing from time to time, together with J.P. Morgan's reasonable out-of-pocket or incidental expenses related to the Financial Assets, including, but not limited to, legal fees and tax or related fees incidental to processing charged directly or indirectly by governmental authorities, issuers or their agents. The Customer will pay J.P. Morgan for J.P. Morgan's other reasonable out-of-pocket or incidental expenses, as may be agreed upon in writing, from time to time. Invoices will be payable within thirty (30) days of the date of the invoice. If the Customer disputes an invoice, it shall nevertheless pay, on or before the date that payment is due, such portion of the invoice that is not subject to a bona fide dispute. J.P. Morgan may deduct amounts invoiced from the Cash Account except such portion of the invoice that the Customer has objected to within thirty (30) days of the date of the invoice (or such other period as the parties may agree in writing). Without prejudice to J.P. Morgan's other rights, J.P. Morgan reserves the right to charge interest on overdue amounts from the due date until actual payment at such rate as J.P. Morgan customarily charges for similar overdue amounts. Unless expressly specified in this Agreement, fees and expenses hereunder excludes any price or cost that J.P. Morgan may charge as the Customer's counterparty in the event J.P. Morgan enters into a principal transaction with the Customer.

4.2. Overdrafts

If a debit to any currency in the Cash Account results or would result in a debit balance, then J.P. Morgan may, in its discretion, (i) advance an amount equal to the overdraft, (ii) refuse to settle in whole or in part the transaction causing such debit balance, or (iii) if any such transaction is posted to the Securities Account, reverse any such posting. If J.P. Morgan elects to make such an advance, the advance will be deemed a loan to the Customer, payable on demand, bearing interest at the applicable rate charged by J.P. Morgan from time to time, for such overdrafts, from the date of such advance to the date of payment (including after the date any judgment may be entered against the Customer with respect to any overdraft) and otherwise on the terms on which J.P. Morgan makes similar overdrafts available from time to time. No prior action or course of dealing on J.P. Morgan's part with respect to the settlement of transactions on the Customer's behalf will be asserted by the Customer against J.P. Morgan for J.P. Morgan's refusal to make advances to the Cash Account or refusal to settle any transaction for which the Customer does not have sufficient available funds in the applicable currency in the Account. The Customer shall be deemed to be in default with respect to any such advance upon the occurrence of any event of the type specified in section 365(e)(1) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, as amended from time to time.

4.3. J.P. Morgan's Right Over Securities; Set-off

Without prejudice to J.P. Morgan's rights under Applicable Law, J.P. Morgan and J.P. Morgan Affiliates shall have, and the Customer grants to J.P. Morgan and J.P. Morgan Affiliates, a first priority, perfected and continuing security interest in and a lien on all cash, Financial Assets and any other property of every kind that are credited to the Account or otherwise held for the Customer by J.P. Morgan ("Account Assets") as security for any and all Secured Liabilities of the Customer to J.P. Morgan and/or any of J.P. Morgan Affiliates, and J.P.

- (a) Morgan shall be entitled to withhold delivery of such Account Assets, and with one business days' prior notice to the Customer and an opportunity for the Customer to satisfy such Secured Liabilities to J.P Morgan, sell or otherwise realize any of such Account Assets and to apply the proceeds and any other monies credited to the Cash Account in satisfaction of such Secured Liabilities. For this purpose, J.P. Morgan may make such currency conversions as may be necessary at its then current rates for the sale and purchase of the relevant currencies.
- (b) Without prejudice to J.P. Morgan's rights under Applicable Law, J.P. Morgan may set off against any Secured Liabilities of the Customer owed to J.P. Morgan or any of J.P. Morgan Affiliates, any

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 14

amount in any currency (i) standing to the credit of any of the Customer's accounts (whether deposit or otherwise) with any J.P. Morgan branch or office or with any J.P. Morgan Affiliate and/or (ii) owed to the Customer by any J.P. Morgan branch or office or by any J.P. Morgan Affiliate.

5. SUBCUSTODIANS AND SECURITIES DEPOSITORIES

5.1. Appointment of Subcustodians; Use of Securities Depositories

J.P. Morgan is authorized under this Agreement to act through and hold the Customer's Financial Assets with Subcustodians. J.P. Morgan will use reasonable care in the selection, monitoring and continued appointment of such Subcustodians. In addition, J.P. Morgan and each Subcustodian may deposit Financial Assets with, and hold Financial Assets in any Securities Depository on such terms as such Securities Depository customarily operates, and the Customer will provide J.P. Morgan with such documentation or acknowledgements that J.P. Morgan may require to hold the Financial Assets in such Securities Depository. On the basis of such terms, a Securities Depository may have a security interest or lien over, or right of set-off in relation to the Financial Assets.

Any agreement that J.P. Morgan enters into with a Subcustodian for holding J.P. Morgan's customers' assets will provide that such assets will not be subject to any right, charge, security interest, lien or claim of any kind in favor of such Subcustodian or its creditors except a claim for payment for their safe custody or administration, or, in the case of cash deposits, except for liens or rights in favor of creditors of the Subcustodian arising under bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, and that the beneficial ownership thereof will be freely transferable without the payment of money or value other than for safe custody or administration, unless required otherwise by Applicable Law in the relevant market. J.P. Morgan shall be responsible for all claims for payment of fees

- (b) by Applicable Law in the relevant market. J.P. Morgan shall be responsible for all claims for payment of fees for safe custody or administration so that no Subcustodian exercises any claim for such payment against the Customer's assets. Where a Subcustodian deposits Financial Assets with a Securities Depository, J.P. Morgan will direct the Subcustodian to identify on its records that the Financial Assets deposited by the Subcustodian at such Securities Depository belong to J.P. Morgan, as agent of the Customer. This Section 5.1(b) will not apply to the extent of any special agreement or arrangement made by the Customer with any particular Subcustodian.
- J.P. Morgan is not responsible for the selection or monitoring of any Securities Depository and will not be liable for any act or omission by (or the insolvency of) any Securities Depository. In the event the Customer incurs a loss due to an act or omission, negligence, willful misconduct or insolvency of a Securities Depository, J.P. Morgan will make reasonable efforts, in its discretion, to seek recovery from the Securities Depository, but J.P. Morgan will not be obligated to institute legal proceedings, file a proof of claim in any insolvency proceeding or take any similar action.

5.2. Liability for Subcustodians

- (a) Subject to Section 7.1(b), J.P. Morgan will be liable for direct losses incurred by the Customer that result from:
 - the failure by a Subcustodian to use reasonable care in the provision of custodial services by it in accordance with the standards prevailing in the relevant market or from the fraud or willful misconduct of such Subcustodian in the provision of custodial services by it; or
 - (ii) the insolvency of any Affiliated Subcustodian Bank.
- Subject to Section 5.1(a) and J.P. Morgan's duty to use reasonable care in the monitoring of a Subcustodian's financial condition as reflected in its published financial statements and other publicly available financial information concerning it customarily reviewed by J.P. Morgan in its oversight process, J.P. Morgan will not be responsible for any losses (whether direct or indirect)

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 15

incurred by the Customer that result from the insolvency of any Subcustodian which is not a branch or an Affiliated Subcustodian Bank.

J.P. Morgan reserves the right to add, replace or remove Subcustodians. J.P. Morgan will give prompt notice of any such action, which will be advance notice if practicable. Upon request by the Customer, J.P. Morgan will identify the name, address and principal place of business of any Subcustodian and the name and address of the governmental agency or other regulatory authority that supervises or regulates such Subcustodian.

6. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

6.1. Representations of the Customer and J.P. Morgan

The Customer or Fund, as applicable, represents, warrants and covenants that (i) it has full authority and power, and has obtained all necessary authorizations and consents (including from the Customer's underlying clients, if applicable), to deposit and control the Financial Assets, Sealed Envelopes and cash in the Accounts, to use J.P. Morgan as its custodian in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, to incur overdraft, to grant a lien over Account Assets as contemplated by Section 4.3 and to enter into foreign exchange transactions; (ii) assuming execution and delivery of this Agreement by J.P. Morgan, this Agreement is the Customer's legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against the Customer in accordance with its terms and it has full power and authority to enter into and has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution of this Agreement; (iii) it has not relied on any oral or written representation made by J.P. Morgan or any person on its behalf, and acknowledges that this Agreement sets out to the fullest extent the duties of J.P. Morgan; (iv) each Fund is a resident of the United States and shall notify J.P. Morgan of any changes in residency; (v) the Financial Assets. Scaled Envelopes and seek deposited in the Agreement (either then these agreets (A))

- (a) (v) the Financial Assets, Sealed Envelopes and cash deposited in the Accounts (other than those assets (A) pledged to a Counterparty pursuant to Section 2.1(c) or (B) held in Accounts established pursuant to certain account control agreements among the Customer, J.P. Morgan and secured party named therein, (A) and (B) collectively referred to as "Control Account Assets") are not subject to any encumbrance or security interest whatsoever and the Customer undertakes that, so long as Liabilities of the Customer under or in connection with this Agreement are outstanding, it will not create or permit to subsist any encumbrance or security interest over such Financial Assets, Sealed Envelopes or cash (other than Control Account Assets); (vi) no delivery of Account Assets by the Customer to J.P. Morgan and no Instruction by the Customer with respect to such Account Assets will contravene Applicable Law; and (vii) none of the Financial Assets, Sealed Envelopes and cash to be held under this Agreement are "plan assets" as defined in Section 3(42) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or the regulations thereunder except as otherwise expressly notified to J.P. Morgan.
 - J.P. Morgan may rely upon the certification of such other facts as may be required to administer J.P. Morgan's obligations under this Agreement and the Customer shall indemnify J.P. Morgan against all Liabilities arising directly or indirectly from any such certification given by Customer or a representative of Customer.
- J.P. Morgan represents and warrants that (i) assuming execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Customer, this Agreement is J.P. Morgan's legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against J.P. Morgan in accordance with its terms and (ii) it has full power and authority to enter into and has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution of this Agreement.

6.2. The Customer is Liable to J.P. Morgan Even if it is Acting for Another Person

If the Customer is acting as an agent or for another person as envisaged in Section 2.1(a) in respect of any transaction, cash or Financial Asset, J.P. Morgan nevertheless will treat the Customer as its principal for all purposes under this Agreement. In this regard, the Customer will be liable to J.P. Morgan as a principal in respect of any transactions relating to the Account. The foregoing will not affect

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 16



any rights J.P. Morgan might have against the Customer's principal or the other person envisaged by Section 2.1(a).

6.3. Special Settlement Services

J.P. Morgan may, but shall not be obliged to, make available to the Customer from time to time special settlement services (including continuous linked settlement) for transactions involving Financial Assets, cash, foreign exchange, and other instruments or contracts. The Customer shall comply, and shall cause its Authorized Persons to comply, with the requirements of any external settlement agency through which such settlements may be processed, including, without limitation, its rules and by-laws, where applicable.

7. WHEN J.P. MORGAN IS LIABLE TO THE CUSTOMER

7.1. Standard of Care; Liability

- J.P. Morgan will use reasonable care in performing its obligations under this Agreement. J.P. Morgan will not be
 (a) in violation of this Agreement with respect to any matter as to which it has satisfied its obligation of reasonable
 - J.P. Morgan will only be liable for the Customer's direct losses and only to the extent they result from J.P. Morgan's fraud, negligence, willful misconduct or material breach in performing its duties as set out in this Agreement and to the extent provided in Section 5.2(a). Under no circumstances will J.P. Morgan be liable
- (b) for (i) any loss of profits (whether direct or indirect) or (ii) any indirect, incidental, consequential or special damages of any form, incurred by any person or entity, whether or not foreseeable and regardless of the type of action in which such a claim may be brought, with respect to the Accounts, J.P. Morgan's performance or non-performance under this Agreement, or J.P. Morgan's role as custodian or banker.
 - The Customer will indemnify J.P. Morgan Indemnitees against, and hold them harmless from, any Liabilities that may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against any J.P. Morgan Indemnitees in connection with or arising out of (i) J.P. Morgan's performance under this Agreement, provided that the J.P. Morgan Indemnitee has not acted with negligence or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct or material breach in connection with the Liabilities in question or (ii) any J.P. Morgan Indemnitee's status as a holder of record of the Customer's
- (c) Financial Assets. J.P. Morgan Indemnitee shall notify the Customer in writing promptly after determining that it will seek indemnity under this Section 7.1 for any litigation or proceeding brought against such J.P. Morgan Indemnitee. A J.P. Morgan Indemnitee shall not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement in any such litigation or proceeding without the Customer's prior written consent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, where such entry of judgment or settlement involves will result in the Customer making a payment in excess of \$50,000.
 - Nevertheless, the Customer will not be obligated to indemnify any J.P. Morgan Indemnitee under this Section 7.1(c) with respect to any Liability for which J.P. Morgan is liable under Section 5.2(a) of this Agreement.
- Except for any Liability owing to a third party (other than an Affiliate of J.P. Morgan or a Subcustodian for which J.P. Morgan is liable under Section 5.2 of this Agreement) asserting a claim against J.P. Morgan for which J.P. Morgan is entitled to be indemnified under this Agreement, under no circumstances will Customer be liable for any indirect, incidental, consequential or special damages (including, without limitation, lost profits or business) of any form, whether or not foreseeable and regardless of the type of action in which such a claim may be brought.
- (e) The Customer agrees that J.P. Morgan provides no service in relation to, and therefore has no duty or responsibility to:

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 17

- (i) question Instructions or make any suggestions to the Customer or an Authorized Person regarding such Instructions:
- (ii) supervise or make recommendations with respect to investments or the retention of Financial Assets;
- (iii) advise the Customer or an Authorized Person regarding any default in the payment of principal or income on any Financial Asset other than as provided in Section 2.7(b) of this Agreement; and
- evaluate or report to the Customer or an Authorized Person regarding the financial condition of any broker, agent or other party to which J.P. Morgan is instructed to deliver Financial Assets or cash. J.P. Morgan is not responsible or liable in any way for the genuineness or validity of any Security or instrument received, delivered or held by J.P. Morgan in physical form that appears to be genuine and valid.

7.2. Force Majeure

J.P. Morgan will maintain and update from time to time business continuation and disaster recovery procedures with respect to its global custody business that it determines from time to time meet reasonable commercial standards. J.P. Morgan will provide Customer with a copy of a general summary of such business continuation and disaster recovery procedures upon request. J.P. Morgan will have no liability, however, for any damage, loss, expense or liability of any nature that the Customer may suffer or incur, caused by an act of God, fire, flood, epidemics, earthquakes or other disasters, civil or labor disturbance, war, terrorism, act of any governmental authority or other act or threat of any authority (de jure or de facto), nationalization, expropriation, legal constraint, fraud or forgery (other than on the part of J.P. Morgan or its employees), malfunction of equipment or software (except where such malfunction is primarily and directly attributable to J.P. Morgan's negligence in maintaining the equipment or software), currency re-denominations, currency restrictions, failure of or the effect of rules or operations of any external funds transfer system, inability to obtain (or interruption of) external communications facilities, power failures or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of J.P. Morgan (including, without limitation, the non-availability of appropriate foreign exchange).

7.3. J.P. Morgan May Consult With Counsel

J.P. Morgan will be entitled to rely on, and may act upon the advice of professional advisors (which may be the professional advisors of the Customer) in relation to matters of Applicable Law or market practice and will not be liable to the Customer under this Agreement for any action taken or omitted pursuant to such advice; provided that J.P. Morgan has selected and retained such professional advisers using reasonable care and acts reasonably in reliance on the advice.

7.4. J.P. Morgan Provides Diverse Financial Services and May Generate Profits as a Result

The Customer hereby authorizes J.P. Morgan to act under this Agreement notwithstanding that: (a) J.P. Morgan or any of its divisions, branches or J.P. Morgan Affiliates may have a material interest in transactions entered into by the Customer with respect to the Account or that circumstances are such that J.P. Morgan may have a potential conflict of duty or interest, including the fact that J.P. Morgan or J.P. Morgan Affiliates may act as a market maker in the Financial Assets to which Instructions relate, provide brokerage services to other customers, act as financial adviser to the issuer of such Financial Assets, act in the same transaction as agent for more than one customer, have a material interest in the issue of the Financial Assets; or earn profits from any of the activities listed herein and (b) J.P. Morgan or any of its divisions, branches or J.P. Morgan Affiliates may be in possession of information tending to show that the Instructions received may not be in the best interests of the Customer. J.P. Morgan is not under any duty to disclose any such information.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 18



7.5. Assets Held Outside J.P. Morgan's Control

J.P. Morgan will not be obliged to (a) hold Financial Assets or cash with any person not agreed to by J.P. Morgan or (b) register or record Financial Assets in the name of any person not agreed to by J.P. Morgan. Furthermore, J.P. Morgan will not be obliged to register or record on J.P. Morgan's records Financial Assets held outside of J.P. Morgan's control. If, however, the Customer makes any such request and J.P. Morgan agrees to the request, the consequences of doing so will be at the Customer's own risk. J.P. Morgan shall not be liable for any losses incurred as a result and may be precluded from providing some of the services referred to in this Agreement (for example, and without limitation, income collection, proxy voting, class action litigation and Corporate Action notification and processing).

7.6. Ancillary Services

J.P. Morgan and its Subcustodians may use third party delivery services and providers of information regarding matters such as pricing, proxy voting, corporate actions and class action litigation and use local agents to provide extraordinary services such as attendance at annual meetings of issuers of Securities. Although J.P. Morgan will use reasonable care (and cause its Subcustodians to use reasonable care) in the selection and retention of such third party providers and local agents, it will not be responsible for any errors or omissions made by them in providing the relevant information or services.

7.7. Service Locations

J.P. Morgan maintains various operational/service centers and locations in the United States and other jurisdictions. The services provided under this Agreement may be provided from one or more such locations. J.P. Morgan may change the operational/service centers and locations as it deems necessary or appropriate for its business concerns.

8. TAXATION

8.1. Tax Obligations

The Customer will pay or reimburse J.P. Morgan, and confirms that J.P. Morgan is authorized to deduct from any cash received or credited to the Cash Account, any taxes or levies required by any revenue or

- (a) governmental authority for whatever reason in respect of the Customer's Accounts. For the avoidance of doubt, J.P. Morgan hereby agrees that it may not deduct those taxes or levies applicable to one Fund from the Cash Account or Cash Accounts of another Fund.
 - The Customer will provide to J.P. Morgan (upon reasonable request) such certifications, declarations, documentation, and information as it may require in connection with taxation, and warrants that, when given, this information is true, complete and correct in every respect. The Customer undertakes to notify J.P. Morgan
- (b) as soon as reasonably practicable if any information requires updating or correcting. J.P. Morgan provides no service of controlling or monitoring, and therefore has no duty in respect of, or liability for any taxes, penalties, interest or additions to tax, whether payable or paid, that result from
 - (i) the inaccurate completion of documents by the Customer or any third party;
 - the provision to J.P. Morgan or a third party of inaccurate or misleading information by the Customer or any third party;
 - (iii) the withholding of material information by the Customer or any third party; or
 - (iv) any delay by any revenue authority or any other cause beyond J.P. Morgan's control.
- (c) If J.P. Morgan does not receive appropriate certifications, documentation and information then, as and when appropriate and required by a revenue or governmental authority, tax shall be deducted

from all income received in respect of the Financial Assets issued (including, but not limited to, withholding under United States Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, United States non-resident alien tax and/or backup withholding tax, as applicable).

The Customer will be responsible in all events for the timely payment of all taxes relating to the Financial Assets in the Securities Account; provided, however, that J.P. Morgan will be responsible for any penalty or additions to tax (including interest) due solely as a result of J.P. Morgan's negligent acts or omissions with respect to paying or withholding tax or reporting interest, dividend or other income paid or credited to the Cash Account.

8.2. Tax Relief Services

Subject to the provisions of this Section 8.2, J.P. Morgan will provide a "relief at source" service to obtain a reduction of withholding tax and any refund of any tax paid or tax credits as may be available in the applicable

- (a) market in respect of income payments on Financial Assets credited to the Securities Account that J.P. Morgan believes may be available to the Customer. To defray expenses pertaining to nominal tax claims, J.P. Morgan may, in its reasonable discretion decline to pursue tax claims of a de minimis value.
- The provision of a tax relief service by J.P. Morgan is conditional upon J.P. Morgan receiving from the Customer (to the extent reasonably requested by J.P. Morgan) (i) a declaration of its identity and place of residence and (ii) certain other documentation (pro forma copies of which are available from J.P. Morgan), prior to the receipt of Financial Assets in the Securities Account and/or the payment of income.
 - J.P. Morgan will perform tax relief services only with respect to taxation levied by the revenue authorities of the countries advised to the Customer from time to time and J.P. Morgan may, by notification in writing, in its
- (c) absolute discretion, supplement or amend the countries in which the tax relief services are offered. Other than as expressly provided in this Section 8.2, J.P. Morgan will have no responsibility with regard to the Customer's tax position or status in any jurisdiction.

9. TERMINATION

9.1. Termination

The initial term of this Agreement shall be for a period of five (5) years following the date on which J.P. Morgan commenced providing services under the Agreement (the "Initial Term"). Following the Initial Term,

- (a) the Customer may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than ninety (90) days' prior written notice to J.P. Morgan. J.P. Morgan may terminate this Agreement on one hundred and eighty (180) days' prior written notice to the Customer.
- (b) Notwithstanding Section 9.1(a):
 - Either party may terminate this Agreement immediately on written notice to the other party in the event that a material breach of this Agreement by the other party has not been cured within thirty (30) days of that party being given written notice of the material breach;
 - Either party may terminate this Agreement immediately on written notice to the other party upon the other party being declared bankrupt, entering into a composition with creditors, obtaining a suspension of payment, being put under court controlled management, being subject to an involuntary order for the
 - transfer of all or part of its business by a statutory authority, having any of its issued shares suspended from trading on any exchange on which they are listed (if applicable) or being the subject of a similar measure;

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 20



- J.P. Morgan may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than sixty (60) days' prior written notice to (iii) the Customer in the event that J.P. Morgan reasonably determines that the Customer has ceased to satisfy J.P. Morgan's customary credit requirements and/or reputational or regulatory concerns; and
- The Customer may terminate this Agreement immediately on written notice within sixty (60) days following an assignment of this Agreement (a) to any J.P. Morgan Affiliate or subsidiary of J.P. Morgan or (b) in connection with a merger, reorganization, stock sale or sale of all or substantially all of J.P. Morgan's custody business, for which J.P. Morgan did not obtain Customer's consent.
 - The Customer may terminate this Agreement at any time during the Initial Term by giving not less than ninety (90) days' prior written notice to J.P. Morgan upon payment of a termination fee. During the first and second years of the Initial Term, the termination fee will be an amount equal to the lesser of (i) \$2 million and (ii) six (6) times the average monthly fees paid during the six (6) month period prior to the
- (v) Customer's notice of termination, or since the date on which J.P. Morgan commenced providing services under this Agreement if such period is less than six (6) months. During the third year of the Initial Term, the termination fee will be an amount equal to the lesser of (i) \$1.25 million and (ii) four (4) times the average monthly fees paid during the four (4) month period prior to the Customer's notice of termination. During the fourth and fifth year of the Initial Term, the termination fee will be zero.

9.2. Exit Procedure

The Customer will provide J.P. Morgan full details of the persons to whom J.P. Morgan must deliver Financial Assets and cash within a reasonable period before the effective time of termination of this Agreement. If the Customer fails to provide such details in a timely manner, J.P. Morgan shall be entitled to continue to be paid fees under this Agreement until such time as it is able to deliver the Financial Assets and cash to a successor custodian, but J.P. Morgan may take such steps as it reasonably determines to be necessary to protect itself following the effective time of termination, including ceasing to provide transaction settlement services in the event that J.P. Morgan is unwilling to assume any related credit risk. J.P. Morgan will in any event be entitled to deduct any amounts owing to it from the Cash Account prior to delivery of the Financial Assets and cash. In the event that insufficient funds are available in the Cash Account, the Customer agrees that J.P. Morgan may, in such manner and, at such time or times as J.P. Morgan in its sole discretion sees fit, liquidate any Financial Assets that J.P. Morgan in its sole discretion may select, in the Securities Account in order to deduct such amount from the proceeds (and, accordingly, J.P. Morgan will be entitled to sell Financial Assets and apply the sale proceeds in satisfaction of amounts owing to it). The Customer will reimburse J.P. Morgan promptly for all out-of-pocket expenses it incurs in delivering Financial Assets upon termination. Termination will not affect any of the liabilities either party owes to the other arising under this Agreement prior to such termination.

9.3. Inactive Securities Accounts

J.P. Morgan reserves the right to charge a reasonable account maintenance fee for any inactive Securities Account in respect of which J.P. Morgan has not received any Instructions for at least one (1) year. The Customer shall be notified by J.P. Morgan of such fee at its address last known to J.P. Morgan, and J.P. Morgan may automatically deduct such fee from the Cash Account. In the event that insufficient funds are available in the Cash Account, the Customer agrees that J.P. Morgan may, in its sole discretion, liquidate any Financial Assets from the Securities Account in such manner and at such time or times as J.P. Morgan deems appropriate in order to deduct the amount of the maintenance fee from the proceeds.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 21

10. MISCELLANEOUS

10.1. Notifications

Notices pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement shall be sent or served by registered mail, nationally recognized delivery services, courier services or hand delivery to the address of the respective parties as set out on the first page of this Agreement, unless at least two (2) days' prior notice of a new address is given to the other party in writing.

10.2. Successors and Assigns

This Agreement will be binding on each of the parties' hereto and their respective successors and assigns. The parties agree that neither party can assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; except that J.P. Morgan may assign this Agreement without the Customer's consent (a) to any J.P. Morgan Affiliate of J.P. Morgan or (b) in connection with a merger, reorganization, stock sale or sale of all or substantially all of J.P. Morgan's custody business.

10.3. Entire Agreement and Amendments

This Agreement, including any Schedules, Exhibits, Annexes and Riders (and any separate agreement which J.P. Morgan and the Customer may enter into with respect to any Cash Account), sets out the entire agreement between the parties in connection with the subject matter hereof, and this Agreement supersedes any other agreement, statement or representation relating to custody, whether oral or written. To the extent inconsistent with this Agreement, J.P. Morgan's electronic access terms and conditions shall not apply to matters arising under this Agreement. Amendments must be in writing and, except where this Agreement provides for amendments by notice from J.P. Morgan, signed by both parties.

10.4. Information Concerning Deposits at J.P. Morgan's Non-U.S. Branch

Under U.S. federal law, deposit accounts that the Customer maintains in J.P. Morgan's foreign branches (outside of the U.S.) are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. In the event of J.P. Morgan's liquidation, foreign branch deposits have a lesser preference than U.S. deposits, and such foreign deposits are subject to cross-border risks.

To the extent any amount standing to the credit of the Cash Account is deposited in one or more deposit accounts at J.P. Morgan London Branch, please note that J.P. Morgan London Branch is a participant in the UK Financial Services Compensation Scheme (the "FSCS"). The terms of the FSCS offer protection in connection with deposits to certain types of claimants to whom J.P. Morgan London Branch provides services in the event that they suffer a financial loss as a direct consequence of J.P. Morgan London Branch being unable to meet any of its obligations and, subject to the FSCS rules regarding eligible deposits, the Customer may have a right to claim compensation from the FSCS. Subject to the FSCS rules, the maximum compensation payable by the FSCS, as at the date of this Agreement, in relation to eligible deposits is £75,000. For the purposes of establishing such maximum compensation, all the Customer's eligible deposits at J.P. Morgan London Branch are aggregated and the total is subject to such maximum compensation.

For further information about the compensation provided by the FSCS, refer to the FSCS website at www.FSCS.org.uk.

Further information is also available online at www.jpmorgan.com/pages/deposit-guarantee-scheme-directive.

10.5. Insurance

The Customer acknowledges that J.P. Morgan will not be required to maintain any insurance coverage specifically for the benefit of the Customer. J.P. Morgan will, however, provide summary information regarding its own general insurance coverage to the Customer upon written request.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 22

10.6. Security Holding Disclosure

With respect to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 14b-2 under the U.S. Shareholder Communications Act regarding disclosure of beneficial owners to issuers of Securities, J.P. Morgan is instructed not to disclose the name, address or Securities positions of the Customer in response to shareholder communications requests regarding the Account.

10.7. U.S. Regulatory Disclosure

- Section 326 of the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 ("USA PATRIOT Act") requires J.P. Morgan to implement reasonable procedures to verify the identity of any person that opens a new account with it. Accordingly, the Customer acknowledges that Section 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act and J.P. Morgan's identity verification procedures
- (a) require J.P. Morgan to obtain information which may be used to confirm the Customer's identity, including, without limitation, the Customer's name, address and organizational documents ("identifying information"). The Customer agrees to provide J.P. Morgan with and consents to J.P. Morgan obtaining from third parties any such identifying information required as a condition of opening an account with or using any service provided by J.P. Morgan.
 - The Customer hereby acknowledges that J.P. Morgan is obliged to comply with AML/Sanctions Requirements and that J.P. Morgan shall not be liable for any action it or any J.P. Morgan Affiliate reasonably takes to comply with any AML/Sanctions Requirement, including identifying and reporting suspicious transactions, rejecting transactions, and blocking or freezing funds, Financial Assets, or other assets. The Customer shall cooperate with J.P. Morgan's performance of its due diligence and other obligations concerning AML/Sanctions Requirements, including with regard to any Beneficial Owners (as defined below). In addition, the Customer agrees that (i) J.P. Morgan may defer acting upon an Instruction pending completion of any review
- (b) under its policies and procedures for compliance with AML/Sanctions Requirements and (ii) Customer's utilization of Accounts as omnibus accounts to hold assets of Beneficial Owners is subject to J.P. Morgan's discretion. Furthermore, J.P. Morgan shall not be obliged to hold any "penny stock" (or other Financial Asset raising special anti-money laundering concerns) in any Account in which a Beneficial Owner has an interest, or to settle any transaction in which a Beneficial Owner has an interest, that relates to any "penny stock" or any such other Financial Asset. For the purposes of this section, "Beneficial Owner" means any person, other than the Customer, who has a direct or indirect beneficial ownership interest in any assets held in any of the Account.

10.8. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

This Agreement will be construed, regulated and administered under the laws of the United States or the State of New York, as applicable, without regard to New York's principles regarding conflict of laws, except that the foregoing shall not reduce any statutory right to choose New York law or forum. The United States District Court for the Southern District of New York will have the sole and exclusive jurisdiction over any lawsuit or other judicial proceeding relating to or arising from this Agreement. If that court lacks federal subject matter jurisdiction, the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County will have sole and exclusive jurisdiction. Either of these courts will have proper venue for any such lawsuit or judicial proceeding, and the parties waive any objection to venue or their convenience as a forum. The parties agree to submit to the jurisdiction of any of the courts specified and to accept service of process to vest personal jurisdiction over them in any of these courts. The parties further hereby knowingly, voluntarily and intentionally waive, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any right to statutory prejudgment interest and a trial by jury with respect to any such lawsuit or judicial proceeding arising or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. To the extent that in any jurisdiction the Customer or J.P. Morgan may now or hereafter be entitled to claim, for itself or its assets, immunity from suit, execution, attachment (before or after judgment) or other legal process, the Customer or J.P. Morgan (as applicable) shall not claim, and it hereby irrevocably waives, such immunity.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 23



10.9. Severability; Waiver; and Survival

- If one or more provisions of this Agreement are held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect on the basis of any particular circumstances or in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of such provision or provisions under other circumstances or in other jurisdictions and of the remaining provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired.
 - Except as otherwise provided herein, no failure or delay on the part of either party in exercising any power or right under this Agreement operates as a waiver, nor does any single or partial exercise of any power or right
- (b) preclude any other or further exercise, or the exercise of any other power or right. No waiver by a party of any provision of this Agreement, or waiver of any breach or default, is effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party against whom the waiver is to be enforced.
- (c) The parties' rights, protections and remedies under this Agreement shall survive its termination.

10.10. Confidentiality

Subject to Section 10.10(b), J.P. Morgan will hold all Confidential Information in confidence and will not disclose any Confidential Information except as may be required by Applicable Law, a regulator with jurisdiction over J.P. Morgan's business, or with the consent of the Customer, provided that prior to disclosing

- (a) any such Confidential Information pursuant to Applicable Law or as required by any such regulator in connection with a request for information specific to Customer, J.P. Morgan shall provide Customer with written notice within a reasonable time prior to disclosing Confidential Information to the extent practicable and legally permissible in order to permit Customer to seek a protective order prohibiting the disclosure of such Confidential Information.
- (b) The Customer authorizes J.P. Morgan to disclose Confidential Information to:
 - any Subcustodian subcontractor, agent, Securities Depository, securities exchange, broker, third party
 agent, proxy solicitor, issuer, or any other person that J.P. Morgan believes is reasonably required in connection with J.P. Morgan's provision of relevant services under this Agreement;
 - (ii) its professional advisors, auditors or public accountants;
 - (iii) its branches and J.P. Morgan Affiliates; and
 - (iv) any revenue authority or any governmental entity in relation to the processing of any tax claim.

Except where J.P. Morgan is instructed to provide Confidential Information to a party designated by the Customer, J.P. Morgan agrees that any person to whom it discloses any Confidential Information pursuant to clauses (i), (ii), or (iii) above has agreed to keep such Confidential Information confidential or has an internal policy to keep confidential client information confidential.

Except as (i) otherwise required by Applicable Law, (ii) required for disclosure in the Customer's Registration Statement, or (iii) needed to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the parties shall hold the terms and conditions, including, without limitation, any commercial terms, of this Agreement in confidence.

10.11. Use of J.P. Morgan's Name

The Customer agrees not to use (or permit the use of) J.P. Morgan's name in any document, publication or publicity material relating to the Customer, including, but not limited to, notices, sales literature, stationery, advertisements, etc., without the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), provided that no prior consent is needed if the document in which J.P. Morgan's name is used merely states that J.P. Morgan is acting as custodian to the Customer.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 24



10.12. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts each of which will be deemed to be an original and together will constitute one and the same agreement.

10.13. No Third Party Beneficiaries

A person who is not a party to this Agreement shall have no right to enforce any term of this Agreement.

10.14. Cyber-security

J.P. Morgan will implement and maintain an information security program to safeguard customer information, and will provide Customer with a written summary of such program upon request.

10.15. Obligations of Each Customer Several; Funds as Customers

- (a) Although each Customer and J.P. Morgan are entering into this agreement for convenience, each Customer and J.P. Morgan intend that this Agreement constitute a separate agreement between each Customer and J.P. Morgan such that each reference to Customer shall be read solely as a reference to a single entity.
- (b) J.P. Morgan acknowledges and agrees that the obligations assumed by the Customer hereunder shall be limited in all cases to the assets of the Customer and that J.P. Morgan may not seek satisfaction of any such obligation from the officers, agents, employees, trustees, directors or shareholders of the Customer or of any other Customer hereto, and to the extent such trustees or officers are regarded as entering into this Agreement, they do so only as trustees or officers and not individually and that the obligations of this Agreement are not binding upon any such trustee, officer, employee or shareholder individually, but are binding only upon the assets and property of such Customer. J.P. Morgan hereby agrees that such trustees, officers, employees or shareholders shall not be personally liable under this Agreement and that J.P. Morgan shall look solely to the property of the Customer for the performance of the Agreement or payment of any claim under the Agreement.
- (c) This Agreement is an agreement entered into between J.P. Morgan and, with respect to each Customer that is also a Fund, each Fund, severally. With respect to any obligation of the Customer on behalf of any Fund arising out of this Agreement, J.P. Morgan shall look for payment or satisfaction of such obligation solely to the assets of the Fund to which such obligation relates with the same effect as if J.P. Morgan had separately contracted with the Customer by separate written instrument with respect to each Fund.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 25

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS, on behalf of the separate portfolios listed on Exhibit A

 By:
 Joseph Malone

 Name:
 Joseph Malone

 Title:
 CFO First Eagle Funds

 Date:
 4/18/17

FIRST EAGLE GLOBAL CAYMAN FUND, LTD.

 By:
 Joseph Malone

 Name:
 Joseph Malone

 Title:
 SVP First Eagle Investment Mgmt

 Date:
 4/18/17

FIRST EAGLE US VALUE CAYMAN FUND, LTD.

 By:
 Joseph Malone

 Name:
 Joseph Malone

 Title:
 SVP First Eagle Investment Mgmt

 Date:
 4/18/17

FINANCIER ROUGE LLC

By First Eagle Funds, its sole member

 By:
 Joseph Malone

 Name:
 Joseph Malone

 Title:
 SVP First Eagle Investment Mgmt

 Date:
 4/18/17

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

 By:
 Brian Eckert

 Name:
 Brian Eckert

 Title:
 Executive Director

 Date:
 5/19/2017

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS, on behalf of the separate portfolios listed on Exhibit A

By: Joseph Malone
Name: Joseph Malone
Title: CFO First Eagle Funds
Date: 4/18/17

FIRST EAGLE OVERSEAS CAYMAN FUND, LTD.

By: Joseph Malone
Name: Joseph Malone
Title: SVP First Eagle Investment Mgmt
4/18/17

FIRST EAGLE GOLD CAYMANS FUND, LTD.

By: Joseph Malone
Name: Joseph Malone
Title: SVP First Eagle Investment Mgmt
Date: 4/18/17

FINANCIER BLEUE LLC

By First Eagle Funds, its sole member

 By:
 Joseph Malone

 Name:
 Joseph Malone

 Title:
 SVP First Eagle Investment Mgmt

 Date:
 4/18/17

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 26

Exhibit A List of Entities

First Eagle Funds:
First Eagle Global Fund
First Eagle Overseas Fund
First Eagle U.S. Value Fund
First Eagle Gold Fund
First Eagle Global Income Builder Fund
First Eagle High Yield Fund
First Eagle Fund of America
First Eagle Variable Funds:
First Eagle Overseas Variable Fund
First Eagle Global Cayman Fund, Ltd.
First Eagle Overseas Cayman Fund, Ltd.
First Eagle US Value Cayman Fund, Ltd.
First Eagle Gold Caymans Fund, Ltd.
Financiere Rouge LLC
Financiere Bleue LLC

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 27

List of Subcustodians and Markets Used by J.P. Morgan

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 28



MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
ARGENTINA	HSBC Bank Argentina S.A. Bouchard 680, 9th Floor C1106ABJ Buenos Aires ARGENTINA	HSBC Bank Argentina S.A. Buenos Aires
AUSTRALIA	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Level 31, 101 Collins Street Melbourne 3000 AUSTRALIA	Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd. Melbourne
AUSTRIA	UniCredit Bank Austria AG Julius Tandler Platz - 3 A-1090 Vienna AUSTRIA	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
BAHRAIN	HSBC Bank Middle East Limited Road No 2832 Al Seef 428 BAHRAIN	HSBC Bank Middle East Limited Al Seef
BANGLADESH	Standard Chartered Bank Portlink Tower Level-6, 67 Gulshan Avenue Gulshan Dhaka -1212 BANGLADESH	Standard Chartered Bank Dhaka
BELGIUM	BNP Paribas Securities Services S.C.A. Central Plaza Building Rue de Loxum, 25 7th Floor 1000 Brussels BELGIUM	J.P. Morgan A.G.** Frankfurt am Main
BERMUDA	HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited 6 Front Street Hamilton HM 11 BERMUDA	HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited Hamilton
BOTSWANA	Standard Chartered Bank Botswana Limited 5th Floor, Standard House P.O. Box 496 Queens Road, The Mall Gaborone BOTSWANA	Standard Chartered Bank Botswana Limited Gaborone
BRAZIL	J.P. Morgan S.A. DTVM** Av. Brigadeiro Faria Lima, 3729, Floor 06 Sao Paulo SP 04538-905 BRAZIL	J.P. Morgan S.A. DTVM** Sao Paulo
BULGARIA	Citibank Europe plc Serdika Offices 10th Floor 48 Sitnyakovo Blvd Sofia 1505	ING Bank N.V. Sofia

BULGARIA

** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 1 of 11



		Last opuated April 19, 2011
MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
CANADA	Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 320 Bay Street Toronto Ontario M5H 4A6 CANADA Royal Bank of Canada 155 Wellington Street West, Toronto Ontario M5V 3L3	Royal Bank of Canada Toronto
	CANADA	
CHILE	Banco Santander Chile Bandera 140, Piso 4 Santiago CHILE	Banco Santander Chile Santiago
CHINA A-SHARE	HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited 33/F, HSBC Building, Shanghai ifc 8 Century Avenue, Pudong Shanghai 200120 THE PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF CHINA	HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited Shanghai
CHINA B-SHARE	HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited 33/F, HSBC Building, Shanghai ifc 8 Century Avenue, Pudong Shanghai 200120 THE PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF CHINA	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** New York JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Hong Kong
CHINA CONNECT	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** 48th Floor, One Island East 18 Westlands Road, Quarry Bay	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Hong Kong
	HONG KONG	
COLOMBIA	Cititrust Colombia S.A. Carrera 9 A # 99-02, 3rd floor Bogota COLOMBIA	Cititrust Colombia S.A. Bogotá
COSTA RICA	Banco BCT, S.A.	Banco BCT, S.A.
	150 Metros Norte de la Catedral Metropolitana Edificio BCT San Jose COSTA RICA	San Jose
RESTRICTED SERVICE	ONLY. PLEASE CONTACT YOUR RELATION	SHIP MANAGER FOR FURTHER INFORMATION
CROATIA	Privredna banka Zagreb d.d. Radnicka cesta 50 10000 Zagreb CROATIA	Zagrebacka banka d.d. Zagreb
CYPRUS	HSBC Bank plc 109-111, Messogian Ave. 115 26 Athens GREECE	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main



		, ,
MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
CZECH REPUBLIC	UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s. BB Centrum - FILADELFIE Zeletavska 1525-1 140 92 Prague 1 CZECH REPUBLIC	Ceskoslovenska obchodni banka, a.s. Prague
DENMARK	Nordea Bank AB (publ) Christiansbro Strandgade 3 P.O. Box 850 DK-0900 Copenhagen DENMARK	Nordea Bank AB (publ) Copenhagen
EGYPT	Citibank, N.A. 4 Ahmed Pasha Street Garden City Cairo EGYPT	Citibank, N.A. Cairo
ESTONIA	Swedbank AS Liivalaia 8 15040 Tallinn ESTONIA	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
FINLAND	Nordea Bank AB (publ) Aleksis Kiven katu 3-5 FIN-00020 NORDEA Helsinki FINLAND	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
FRANCE	BNP Paribas Securities Services S.C.A. 3, rue d'Antin 75002 Paris FRANCE	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
GERMANY	Deutsche Bank AG Alfred-Herrhausen-Allee 16-24 D-65760 Eschborn GERMANY J.P. Morgan AG#** Taunustor 1 (TaunusTurm) 60310 Frankfurt am Main GERMANY # Custodian for local German custody clients only.	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
GHANA	Standard Chartered Bank Ghana Limited Accra High Street P.O. Box 768 Accra GHANA	Standard Chartered Bank Ghana Limited Accra
GREECE	HSBC Bank plc Messogion 109-111	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main



** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 3 of 11



		Last Opuated April 13, 2011
MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
HONG KONG	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** 48th Floor, One Island East 18 Westlands Road, Quarry Bay	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Hong Kong
	HONG KONG	
HUNGARY	Deutsche Bank AG Hold utca 27 H-1054 Budapest HUNGARY	ING Bank N.V. Budapest
ICELAND	Islandsbanki hf. Kirkjusandur 2 IS-155 Reykjavik ICELAND	Islandsbanki hf. Reykjavik
RESTRICTED SERVICE	ONLY. PLEASE CONTACT YOUR RELATIONSH	HIP MANAGER FOR FURTHER INFORMATION
INDIA	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** 6th Floor, Paradigm 'B' Wing Mindspace, Malad (West) Mumbai 400 064 INDIA	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Mumbai
INDONESIA	PT Bank HSBC Indonesia Menara Mulia 25th Floor Jl. Jendral Gatot Subroto Kav. 9-11 Jakarta 12930 INDONESIA	PT Bank HSBC Indonesia Jakarta
IRELAND	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** 25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf London E14 5JP UNITED KINGDOM	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
ISRAEL	Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. 35, Yehuda Halevi Street 65136 Tel Aviv ISRAEL	Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. Tel Aviv
ITALY	BNP Paribas Securities Services S.C.A. Piazza Lina Bo Bardi, 3 20124 Milan ITALY	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
JAPAN	Mizuho Bank, Ltd. 2-15-1, Konan Minato-ku Tokyo 108-6009 JAPAN The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. 1-3-2 Nihombashi Hongoku-cho Chuo-ku Tokyo 103-0021	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Tokyo

JAPAN

** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 4 of 11



Last Updated April 19, 2017

MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
JORDAN	Standard Chartered Bank Shmeissani Branch Al-Thaqafa Street Building # 2 P.O. Box 926190 Amman JORDAN	Standard Chartered Bank Amman
KAZAKHSTAN	JSC Citibank Kazakhstan Park Palace, Building A, Floor 2 41 Kazybek Bi Almaty 050010 KAZAKHSTAN	Subsidiary Bank Sberbank of Russia Joint Stock Company Almaty
KENYA	Standard Chartered Bank Kenya Limited Chiromo 48 Westlands Road Nairobi 00100 KENYA	Standard Chartered Bank Kenya Limited Nairobi
KUWAIT	HSBC Bank Middle East Limited Kuwait City, Sharq Area Abdulaziz Al Sager Street Al Hamra Tower, 37F Safat 13017 KUWAIT	HSBC Bank Middle East Limited Safat
LATVIA	Swedbank AS Balasta dambis 1a Riga LV-1048 LATVIA	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
LITHUANIA	AB SEB Bankas 12 Gedimino pr. LT 2600 Vilnius LITHUANIA	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
LUXEMBOURG	BNP Paribas Securities Services S.C.A. 33, Rue de Gasperich L-5826 Hesperange LUXEMBOURG	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
MALAWI	Standard Bank Limited, Malawi 1st Floor Kaomba House Cnr Glyn Jones Road & Victoria Avenue Blantyre MALAWI	Standard Bank Limited, Malawi Blantyre
RESTRICTED SERVICE	ONLY. PLEASE CONTACT YOUR RELATIONS	HIP MANAGER FOR FURTHER INFORMATION*
MALAYSIA	HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad	HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad

MALAYSIA HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad

2 Leboh Ampang 12th Floor, South Tower 50100 Kuala Lumpur

Kuala Lumpur

MALAYSIA



		Last Opaatea April 13, 2011
MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
MAURITIUS	The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited HSBC Centre 18 Cybercity Ebene MAURITIUS	The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Ebene
MEXICO	Banco Nacional de Mexico, S.A. Act. Roberto Medellin No. 800 3er Piso Norte Colonia Santa Fe 01210 Mexico, D.F. MEXICO	Banco Santander (Mexico), S.A. Mexico, D.F.
MOROCCO	Société Générale Marocaine de Banques 55 Boulevard Abdelmoumen Casablanca 20100 MOROCCO	Attijariwafa Bank S.A. Casablanca
NAMIBIA	Standard Bank Namibia Limited 2nd Floor, Town Square Building Corner of Werner List and Post Street Mall P.O. Box 3327 Windhoek NAMIBIA	The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited Johannesburg
NETHERLANDS	BNP Paribas Securities Services S.C.A. Herengracht 595 1017 CE Amsterdam NETHERLANDS	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
NEW ZEALAND	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Level 13, 2 Hunter Street Wellington 6011 NEW ZEALAND	Westpac Banking Corporation Wellington
NIGERIA	Stanbic IBTC Bank Plc Plot 1712 Idejo Street Victoria Island Lagos NIGERIA	Stanbic IBTC Bank Plc Lagos
NORWAY	Nordea Bank AB (publ) Essendropsgate 7 P.O. Box 1166 NO-0107 Oslo NORWAY	Nordea Bank AB (publ) Oslo
OMAN	HSBC Bank Oman S.A.O.G. 2nd Floor Al Khuwair P.O. Box 1727 PC 111 Seeb OMAN	HSBC Bank Oman S.A.O.G. Seeb
PAKISTAN	Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited	Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited

P.O. Box 4896 Ismail Ibrahim Chundrigar Road Karachi 74000 PAKISTAN Karachi

** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 6 of 11



		·
MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
PERU	Citibank del Perú S.A. Av. Canaval y Moreryra 480 Piso 3 San Isidro Lima 27 PERU	Citibank del Perú S.A. Lima
PHILIPPINES	The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 7/F HSBC Centre 3058 Fifth Avenue West Bonifacio Global City 1634 Taguig City PHILIPPINES	The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Taguig City
POLAND	Bank Handlowy w. Warszawie S.A. ul. Senatorska 16 00-923 Warsaw POLAND	mBank S.A. Warsaw
PORTUGAL	BNP Paribas Securities Services S.C.A. Avenida D.João II, Lote 1.18.01, Bloco B, 7º andar 1998-028 Lisbon PORTUGAL	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
QATAR	HSBC Bank Middle East Limited 2nd Floor, Ali Bin Ali Tower Building 150 (Airport Road) P.O. Box 57 Doha QATAR	The Commercial Bank (P.Q.S.C.) Doha
ROMANIA	Citibank Europe plc 145 Calea Victoriei 1st District 010072 Bucharest ROMANIA	ING Bank N.V. Bucharest
RUSSIA	J.P. Morgan Bank International (Limited Liability Company)** 10, Butyrsky Val White Square Business Centre Floor 12 Moscow 125047 RUSSIA	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** New York
SAUDI ARABIA	HSBC Saudi Arabia 2/F HSBC Building Olaya Road, Al-Murooj Riyadh 11413 SAUDI ARABIA	HSBC Saudi Arabia Riyadh
SERBIA	Unicredit Bank Srbija a.d.	Unicredit Bank Srbija a.d.

Rajiceva 27-29 11000 Belgrade SERBIA

Belgrade

** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 7 of 11



		Eddi Opdated April 19, 2011
MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
SINGAPORE	DBS Bank Ltd 10 Toh Guan Road DBS Asia Gateway, Level 04-11 (4B) 608838 SINGAPORE	Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Singapore
SLOVAK REPUBLIC	UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s. Sancova 1/A SK-813 33 Bratislava SLOVAK REPUBLIC	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
SLOVENIA	UniCredit Banka Slovenija d.d. Smartinska 140 SI-1000 Ljubljana SLOVENIA	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
SOUTH AFRICA	FirstRand Bank Limited 1 Mezzanine Floor, 3 First Place, Bank City Cnr Simmonds and Jeppe Streets Johannesburg 2001 SOUTH AFRICA	The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited Johannesburg
SOUTH KOREA	Standard Chartered Bank Korea Limited 47 Jongro, Jongro-Gu Seoul 03160 SOUTH KOREA Kookmin Bank Co., Ltd. 84, Namdaemun-ro, Jung-gu Seoul 100-845 SOUTH KOREA	Standard Chartered Bank Korea Limited Seoul Kookmin Bank Co., Ltd. Seoul
SPAIN	Santander Securities Services, S.A. Ciudad Grupo Santander Avenida de Cantabria, s/n Edificio Ecinar, planta baja Boadilla del Monte 28660 Madrid SPAIN	J.P. Morgan AG** Frankfurt am Main
SRI LANKA	The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 24 Sir Baron Jayatillaka Mawatha Colombo 1 SRI LANKA	The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Colombo
SWEDEN	Nordea Bank AB (publ) Hamngatan 10 SE-105 71 Stockholm SWEDEN	Svenska Handelsbanken Stockholm
SWITZERLAND	UBS Switzerland AG 45 Bahnhofstrasse 8021 Zurich	UBS Switzerland AG Zurich

SWITZERLAND

** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 8 of 11



Last Updated April 19, 2017

MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
TAIWAN	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** 8th Floor, Cathay Xin Yi Trading Building No. 108, Section 5, Xin Yi Road Taipei 11047 TAIWAN	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Taipei
TANZANIA	Stanbic Bank Tanzania Limited Stanbic Centre Corner Kinondoni and A.H. Mwinyi Roads P.O. Box 72648 Dar es Salaam TANZANIA	Stanbic Bank Tanzania Limited Dar es Salaam
RESTRICTED SERVICE	ONLY. PLEASE CONTACT YOUR RELATIONSHIP	MANAGER FOR FURTHER INFORMATION
THAILAND	Standard Chartered Bank (Thai) Public Company Limited 14th Floor, Zone B Sathorn Nakorn Tower 90 North Sathorn Road Bangrak Silom, Bangrak Bangkok 10500 THAILAND	Standard Chartered Bank (Thai) Public Company Limited Bangkok
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO	Republic Bank Limited 9-17 Park Street Port of Spain TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO	Republic Bank Limited Port of Spain
TUNISIA	Banque Internationale Arabe de Tunisie, S.A. 70-72 Avenue Habib Bourguiba P.O. Box 520 Tunis 1000 TUNISIA	Banque Internationale Arabe de Tunisie, S.A. Tunis
TURKEY	Citibank A.S. Inkilap Mah., Yilmaz Plaza O. Faik Atakan Caddesi No: 3 34768 Umraniye, Istanbul TURKEY	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** Istanbul
UGANDA	Standard Chartered Bank Uganda Limited 5 Speke Road P.O. Box 7111 Kampala UGANDA	Standard Chartered Bank Uganda Limited Kampala
UKRAINE	PJSC Citibank 16-G Dilova Street 03150 Kiev UKRAINE	PJSC Citibank Kiev JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** New York

RESTRICTED SERVICE ONLY. PLEASE CONTACT YOUR RELATIONSHIP MANAGER FOR FURTHER INFORMATION

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES - ADX HSBC Bank Middle East Limited Emaar Square, Level 4, Building No. 5 P.O. Box 502601 Dubai UNITED ARAB EMIRATES The National Bank of Abu Dhabi Abu Dhabi

** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 9 of 11



MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES - DFM	HSBC Bank Middle East Limited Emaar Square, Level 4, Building No. 5 P.O. Box 502601 Dubai UNITED ARAB EMIRATES	The National Bank of Abu Dhabi Abu Dhabi
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES - NASDAQ DUBAI	HSBC Bank Middle East Limited Emaar Square, Level 4, Building No. 5 P.O. Box 502601 Dubai UNITED ARAB EMIRATES	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ** New York
UNITED KINGDOM	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** 25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf London E14 5JP UNITED KINGDOM	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** London
	Deutsche Bank AG Depository and Clearing Centre 10 Bishops Square London E1 6EG UNITED KINGDOM	Varies by currency
UNITED STATES	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** 4 New York Plaza New York NY 10004 UNITED STATES	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.** New York
URUGUAY	Banco Itaú Uruguay S.A. Zabala 1463 11000 Montevideo URUGUAY	Banco Itaú Uruguay S.A. Montevideo
VENEZUELA	Citibank, N.A. Avenida Casanova Centro Comercial El Recreo Torre Norte, Piso 19 Caracas 1050 VENEZUELA	Citibank, N.A. Caracas
VIETNAM	HSBC Bank (Vietnam) Ltd. Centre Point 106 Nguyen Van Troi Street Phu Nhuan District Ho Chi Minh City VIETNAM	HSBC Bank (Vietnam) Ltd. Ho Chi Minh City
*WAEMU - BENIN, BURKINA FASO, GUINEA-BISSAU, IVORY	Standard Chartered Bank Côte d'Ivoire SA 23 Boulevard de la Republique 1 01 B.P. 1141	Standard Chartered Bank Côte d'Ivoire SA Abidjan
COAST, MALI, NIGER, SENEGAL, TOGO*	Abidjan 17 IVORY COAST	

^{*}RESTRICTED SERVICE ONLY. PLEASE CONTACT YOUR RELATIONSHIP MANAGER FOR FURTHER INFORMATION*



Last Updated April 19, 2017

MARKET	SUBCUSTODIAN	CASH CORRESPONDENT BANK
ZAMBIA	Standard Chartered Bank Zambia Plc Standard Chartered House Cairo Road P.O. Box 32238 Lusaka 10101 ZAMBIA	Standard Chartered Bank Zambia Plc Lusaka
ZIMBABWE	Stanbic Bank Zimbabwe Limited Stanbic Centre, 3rd Floor 59 Samora Machel Avenue Harare ZIMBABWE	Stanbic Bank Zimbabwe Limited Harare

This document is for information only and its contents are subject to change. This document is intended neither to influence your investment decisions nor to amend or supplement any agreement governing your relations with J.P. Morgan. Neither this document nor any of its contents may be disclosed to any

RESTRICTED SERVICE ONLY. PLEASE CONTACT YOUR RELATIONSHIP MANAGER FOR FURTHER INFORMATION

third party or used for any other purpose without the proper written consent of J.P. Morgan. J.P. Morgan has gathered the information from a source it considers reliable, however, it cannot be responsible for inaccuracies, incomplete information or updating of the information furnished hereby.

** J.P. Morgan affiliate

Page 11 of 11

Schedule 2 Form of Board Resolution To: JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. 20 We hereby certify that the following is a true copy of the minutes of the Board of Directors of * (the "Company") which was duly called and held on and at which a duly qualified quorum was present throughout and entitled to vote. There was produced to the meeting a form of Custody Agreement provided by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("J.P. Morgan") for use in connection with the opening of one or more cash and securities accounts and the conduct of such other transactions between the Company and J.P. Morgan as referred to therein. The form of Custody Agreement produced had 1. been completed by an officer of the Company, and in particular it was noted that details of the Authorized Persons (as defined therein) and details of persons authorized to give instructions on behalf of the Company had been provided to J.P. Morgan. Details of any Fund Managers and Advisers had also been provided to J.P. Morgan. The indemnities given to J.P. Morgan in the Custody Agreement were also noted. The meeting considered the form of the Custody Agreement. IT WAS RESOLVED that the form of Custody Agreement (together with the Schedules and Appendices), completed in the manner and form produced at the meeting, be and is hereby approved and that ** be and he/she is hereby authorized, for and on behalf of the Company, to sign and deliver the same together with such changes and amendments thereto as he/she may in his/her sole discretion think fit. There was produced to the meeting a form of power of attorney ("power of attorney") to be given by the Company to J.P. Morgan to enable J.P. Morgan to provide tax reclaim services as provided for in the Custody Agreement. The meeting 3. considered the form of the power of attorney and in particular the indemnities contained in it. IT WAS RESOLVED that that power of attorney be and it is hereby approved and that it be executed under seal in accordance with the Company's constitution. DIRECTOR **SECRETARY**

*Name of Company in full.

Page 29

**Name of signer of the Agreement.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016

Schedule 3

J.P. Morgan Investor Services Global Custody Restricted Markets Schedule

The following table identifies certain markets that J.P. Morgan has determined to be restricted markets and provides summary information about the nature of the restrictions applicable in each. J.P. Morgan reserves the right to update this Schedule from time to time upon notice to Customer.

Market	Restrictions
Costa Rica	If J.P. Morgan's Costa Rican Subcustodian exits the market or becomes an unacceptable provider of subcustody services, J.P. Morgan may cease to provide custody services with respect to Securities that are safekept in Costa Rica. Although J.P. Morgan will work with customers to mitigate the impact of any decision to exit the market, it may not be practicable to give significant advance notice of the exit.
Iceland	Until further notice from J.P. Morgan, no deposits of Icelandic currency will be held in the Customer's Cash Account except for the proceeds of sales of Securities safekept in Iceland ("Icelandic Securities") or where income and corporate action proceeds are paid in local currency.
	Until further notice from J.P. Morgan, any credit of Icelandic currency to the Customer's Cash Account with J.P. Morgan will be conditional and subject to reversal by J.P. Morgan upon notice to Customer except to the extent that the funds are able to be applied at Customer's Instruction to the purchase of Icelandic Securities or J.P. Morgan is able to repatriate the funds from
	J.P. Morgan's Icelandic Subcustodian via a foreign exchange transaction (upon Instruction received from Customer). In this regard, Customer will be entitled to no more than Customer's pro rata share of any recoveries that J.P. Morgan is able to obtain, as reasonably determined by J.P. Morgan.
Malawi	Local currency will be held in one or more separate cash accounts that the Customer opened with J.P. Morgan's Malawi Subcustodian that are in the Customer's name and payable exclusively by J.P. Morgan's Malawi Subcustodian. In respect of the cash accounts, J.P. Morgan's Malawi Subcustodian will be the Customer's local agent bank and pursuant to a power of attorney, J.P. Morgan will have a right to instruct J.P. Morgan's Malawi Subcustodian in respect to the one or more separate cash accounts that the Customer directly opened in the Customer's name at the Subcustodian.
	Due to the unclear standards in the Malawi market with respect to the completion and submission of corporate action elections, J.P. Morgan will be subject to a "reasonable efforts" standard of care with respect to any Corporate Action related to Securities safekept in Malawi ("Malawi Securities").
	If J.P. Morgan's Malawi Subcustodian exits the market or becomes an unacceptable provider of subcustody services, J.P. Morgan may cease to provide custody services with respect to Malawi Securities. Although J.P. Morgan will work with customers to mitigate the impact of any decision to exit the market, it may not be practicable to give significant advance notice of the exit.
Tanzania	Local currency will be held in one or more separate cash accounts that the Customer opened

J.P. Morgan Investor Services Global Custody

Market	Restrictions		
	with J.P. Morgan's Tanzanian Subcustodian that are in the Customer's name and payable exclusively by J.P. Morgan's Tanzanian Subcustodian. In respect of the cash accounts, J.P. Morgan's Tanzanian Subcustodian will be the Customer's local agent bank and pursuant to a power of attorney, J.P. Morgan will have a right to instruct J.P. Morgan's Tanzanian Subcustodian in respect to the one or more separate cash accounts that the Customer directly opened in the Customer's name at the Subcustodian.		
	Due to the unclear standards in the Tanzanian market with respect to the completion and submission of corporate action elections, J.P. Morgan will be subject to a "reasonable efforts" standard of care with respect to any Corporate Action related to Securities safekept in Tanzania ("Tanzanian Securities").		
	If J.P. Morgan's Tanzanian Subcustodian exits the market or becomes an unacceptable provider of subcustody services, J.P. Morgan may cease to provide custody services with respect to Tanzanian Securities. Although J.P. Morgan will work with customers to mitigate the impact of any decision to exit the market, it may not be practicable to give significant advance notice of the exit.		
Lillyroing (for	Customer should refer to the current version of the applicable J.P. Morgan's Ukraine briefing memo regarding the account structure and corporate action nuances of the Ukrainian market.		
Ukraine (for Ukrainian Equities only)	For client opening accounts in Ukraine and unincorporated client types in particular, due to unclear standards in the Ukrainian market with respect to the completion and submission of corporate action elections, J.P. Morgan will be subject to a "reasonable efforts" standard of care with respect to any Corporate Action related to equity Securities safekept in Ukraine.		
West African Economic and	Local currency will be held in one or more separate cash accounts that the Customer opened with J.P. Morgan's WAEMU Subcustodian that are in the Customer's name and payable exclusively by J.P. Morgan's WAEMU Subcustodian. In respect of the cash accounts, J.P. Morgan's WAEMU Subcustodian will be the Customer's local agent bank and pursuant to a power of attorney, J.P. Morgan will have a right to instruct J.P. Morgan's WAEMU Subcustodian in respect to the one or more separate cash accounts that the Customer directly opened in the Customer's name at the Subcustodian.		
Monetary Union ("WAEMU")	If J.P. Morgan's WAEMU Subcustodian exits the market or becomes an unacceptable provider of subcustody services, or if market conditions otherwise deteriorate within one or more of the member states of WAEMU, J.P. Morgan may cease to provide custody services with respect to Securities issued in member states of WAEMU that are settled and safekept at Dépositaire Central/Banque de Règlement S.A. Although J.P. Morgan will work with customers to mitigate the impact of any decision to exit the market, it may not be practicable to give significant advance notice of the exit.		
Zimbabwe	Until further notice from J.P. Morgan, any credit of U.S. Dollars to the Customer's Cash Account with J.P. Morgan applied at Customer's Instruction to the purchase or sale of Securities safekept in Zimbabwe (the "Zimbabwe Securities") will be conditional and subject to reversal by J.P. Morgan upon notice to Customer except to the extent that the funds are able to be repatriated or J.P. Morgan is able to repatriate the funds from J.P. Morgan's Zimbabwean Subcustodian via a foreign exchange transaction (upon Instruction received from Customer). In this regard, Customer will be entitled to no more than Customer's pro rata share of any recoveries that J.P.		

J.P. Morgan Investor Services Global Custody

J.P.Morgan

Market	Restrictions	
	Morgan is able to obtain, as reasonably determined by J.P. Morgan.	
	If J.P. Morgan's Zimbabwean Subcustodian exits the market or becomes an unacceptable provider of subcustody services, or if market conditions otherwise deteriorate, J.P. Morgan may cease to provide custody services with respect to Zimbabwe Securities. Although J.P. Morgan will work with customers to mitigate the impact of any decision to exit the market, it may not be practicable to give significant advance notice of the exit.	

J.P. Morgan Investor Services Global Custody

Annex A Electronic Access

2.

J.P. Morgan may permit the Customer and its Authorized Persons to access certain electronic systems and applications (collectively, the "Products") and to access or receive electronically Data (as defined below) in connection with the Agreement. J.P. Morgan may, from time to time, introduce new features to the Products or otherwise modify or delete

1. existing features of the Products in its sole discretion. J.P. Morgan shall endeavor to give the Customer reasonable notice of its termination or suspension of access to the Products, but may do so immediately if J.P. Morgan determines, in its sole discretion, that providing access to the Products would violate Applicable Law or that the security or integrity of the Products is at risk. Access to the Products shall be subject to the Security Procedures.

In consideration of the fees paid by the Customer to J.P. Morgan and subject to any applicable software license addendum in relation to J.P. Morgan-owned or sublicensed software provided for a particular application and Applicable Law, J.P. Morgan grants to the Customer a non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited and revocable license to use the Products and the information and data made available through the Products or transferred electronically (the "Data") for the Customer's internal business use only. The Customer may download the Data and print out hard copies for its reference, provided that it does not remove any copyright or other notices contained therein. The license granted herein will permit use by the Customer's Authorized Person, provided that such use shall be in compliance with the Agreement, including this Annex. The Customer acknowledges that elements of the Data, including prices, corporate action information, and reference data, may have been licensed by J.P. Morgan from third parties and that any use of such Data beyond that authorized by the foregoing license, may require the permission of one or more third parties in addition to J.P. Morgan.

The Customer acknowledges that there are security, corruption, transaction error and access availability risks associated with using open networks such as the internet, and the Customer hereby expressly assumes such risks. The Customer is solely responsible for obtaining, maintaining and operating all software (including antivirus software, anti-spyware software, and other internet security software) and personnel necessary for the Customer to access and use the Products. All such software must be interoperable with J.P. Morgan's software. Each of the Customer and J.P. Morgan shall be responsible for the proper functioning, maintenance and security of its own systems, services, software and other equipment.

In cases where J.P. Morgan's web site is unexpectedly down or otherwise unavailable, J.P. Morgan shall, absent a force majeure event, provide other appropriate means for the Customer or its Authorized Persons to instruct J.P. Morgan or obtain reports from J.P. Morgan. J.P. Morgan shall not be liable for any Liabilities arising out of the Customer's use of, access to or inability to use the Products via J.P. Morgan's web site in the absence of J.P. Morgan's gross negligence or willful misconduct.

Use of the Products may be monitored, tracked, and recorded. In using the Products, the Customer hereby expressly consents to such monitoring, tracking, and recording. Individuals and organizations should have no expectation of privacy unless local law, regulation, or contract provides otherwise. J.P. Morgan shall own all right, title and interest in the data reflecting the Customer usage of the Products or J.P. Morgan's web site (including, but not limited to, general usage data and aggregated transaction data). J.P. Morgan may use and sublicense data obtained by it regarding the Customer's use of the Products or J.P. Morgan's web site, as long as J.P. Morgan does not disclose to others that the Customer was the source of such data or the details of individual transactions effected using the Products or web site.

The Customer shall not knowingly use the Products to transmit (i) any virus, worm, or destructive element or any programs or data that may be reasonably expected to interfere with or disrupt the Products or servers connected to the Products; (ii) material that violates the rights of another, including but not limited to the intellectual property rights of another; and (iii) "junk mail", "spam", "chain letters" or unsolicited mass distribution of e-mail.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 31

The Customer shall promptly and accurately designate in writing to J.P. Morgan the geographic location of its users upon written request. The Customer further represents and warrants to J.P. Morgan that the Customer shall not access the service from any jurisdiction which J.P. Morgan informs the Customer or where the Customer has actual knowledge that

- 7. the service is not authorized for use due to local regulations or laws, including applicable software export rules and regulations. Prior to submitting any document which designates the persons authorized to act on the Customer's behalf, the Customer shall obtain from each individual referred to in such document all necessary consents to enable J.P. Morgan to process the data set out therein for the purposes of providing the Products.
 - The Customer will be subject to and shall comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations concerning restricting collection, use, disclosure, processing and free movement of the Data (collectively, the "Privacy Regulations"). The Privacy Regulations may include, as applicable, the Federal "Privacy of Consumer Financial Information" Regulation (12 CFR Part
- 8. 30), as amended from time to time, issued pursuant to Section 504 of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (15 U.S.C. §6801, et seq.), the Health and Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (42 U.S.C. §1320d), The Data Protection Act 1998 and Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individuals with regard to processing of personal data and the free movement of such data.
- 9. The Customer shall be responsible for the compliance of its Authorized Persons with the terms of the Agreement, including this Annex.

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 32

Appendix 1

Information Regarding Country Risk

- To aid Customer in its determinations regarding Country Risk, J.P. Morgan shall furnish annually, and upon the initial placing of Financial Assets and cash into a country, the following information:
 - A. Opinions of local counsel concerning:
 - Whether applicable foreign law would restrict the access of Customer's independent
 public accountants to books and records kept by a Subcustodian located in that country which pertain to the Customer's account.
 - Whether applicable foreign law would restrict Customer's ability to recover its Financial ii. Assets and cash in the event of the bankruptcy of a Subcustodian located in that country.
 - Whether applicable foreign law would restrict Customer's ability to recover Financial Assets that are lost while under the control of a Subcustodian located in the country.
 - Whether applicable foreign law would restrict the Customer's right as foreign investors to iv. convert Customer's cash or cash equivalents into U.S. dollars which have not yet been invested in securities.
 - B. A market profile with respect to the following topics:
 - (i) securities regulatory environment, (ii) foreign ownership restrictions, (iii) foreign exchange, (iv) securities settlement and registration, (v) taxation, and (vi) securities depositories (including depository risk assessment), if any.
- 2. To aid Customer in monitoring Country Risk, J.P. Morgan shall furnish board the following additional information:

NewsFlashes, including with respect to changes in the information in market profiles

Global Custody Agreement - New York - General - DOCUMENT ID: [D2817270] - May 2016 Page 33

Table of Contents

1. 1.1. 1.2.	INTENTION OF THE PARTIES; DEFINITIONS Intention of the Parties Definitions; Interpretation	1 1 1
2.	WHAT J.P. MORGAN IS REQUIRED TO DO	3
2.1.	The Services	3
2.2.	No Duty to Monitor Compliance	4
2.3.	No Responsibility for Tax Returns	4
2.4.	Storage of Records	4
2.5.	Compliance with Laws and Regulations	4
2.6.	Change Control	4
3.	INSTRUCTIONS	5
3.1.	Acting on Instructions; Method of Instruction; and Unclear Instructions	5
3.2.	Verification and Security Procedures	5
3.3.	Instructions Contrary To Applicable Law/Market Practice	5
3.4.	Cut-Off Times	6
3.5.	Electronic Access	6
4.	FEES AND EXPENSES OWING TO J.P. MORGAN	6
4.1.	Fees and Expenses	6
5.	ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS	7
5.1.	Representations of the Customer and J.P. Morgan	7
5.2.	The Customer to Provide Certain Information to J.P. Morgan	7
5.3.	Information Used to Provide the Service	7
5.4.	Know Your Customer Rules	7
6.	WHERE J.P. MORGAN IS LIABLE TO THE CUSTOMER OR THE FUNDS	8
6.1.	Standard of Care; Liability	8
6.2.	Force Majeure	8
6.3.	J.P. Morgan May Consult with Counsel	8
6.4.	Limitations of J.P. Morgan's Liability	9
7.	TERM AND TERMINATION	10
7.1.	Term and Termination	10
7.2.	Other Grounds for Termination	10
7.3.	Consequences of Termination	10
7.4.	Transition following Termination	10
8.	MISCELLANEOUS	11
8.1.	Notices	11
8.2.	Successors and Assigns	11
8.3.	Entire Agreement	11
8.4.	Insurance	11
8.5.	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	11
8.6.	Severability; Waiver; and Survival	12
8.7.	Confidentiality	12
8.8.	Use of J.P. Morgan's Name	13

8.9.	Delegation	13
8.10.	Counterparts	13
8.11.	No Third Party Beneficiaries	13
8.12.	Cyber-security	13
8.13.	Obligations of Each Customer Several; Funds as Customers	13
Exhib	oit A List of Entites	15
Sched	dule 1 Accounting and NAV Calculation Services	16
APPE	ENDIX A Net Asset Value Error Correction Policy and Procedures	17
Sched	dule 2 Fund Administration Services	19
Sched	dule 3 OTC Derivative Administration Solutions	21
Anne	Annex A Electronic Access	

FUND SERVICES AGREEMENT

This agreement, dated April ___, 2017 (this "Agreement"), is between each entity managed by First Eagle Investment Management, LLC that is set forth on Exhibit A, each of whose principal place of business is at 1345 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10105 (each, the "Customer") and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. with a place of business at One Beacon Street, 19th Flr. Boston, MA 02108 ("J.P. Morgan").

1. INTENTION OF THE PARTIES; DEFINITIONS

1.1. Intention of the Parties

- Each Customer that is a Fund is an open-end management investment company registered under the Investment (a) Company Act of 1940, with the purpose of investment of its assets in certain types of securities and instruments, as more fully described in the Funds' Registration Statement, as amended from time to time.
- The Customer has requested J.P. Morgan to provide Accounting and NAV Calculation Services, Fund Administration Services and OTC Derivative Administration Solutions, which J.P. Morgan has agreed to do subject to the terms and conditions appearing in this Agreement and the Schedules hereto. J.P. Morgan will be responsible for the performance of only those duties set forth in this Agreement.

1.2. Definitions; Interpretation

- (a) As used in this Agreement and the Schedules and Appendices to this Agreement, the following terms have the meaning hereinafter stated.
- "Accounting and NAV Calculation Services" means the services described in Schedule 1 Accounting and NAV Calculation Services.
- "Advisers Act" means the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended.
- "Affiliate" means an entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, J.P. Morgan or the Customer, as the case may be.
- "Applicable Law" means any applicable statute (including the 1940 Act, the Advisers Act, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended ("1933 Act") and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, ("1934 Act")), treaty, rule, regulation or law (including common law) and any applicable decree, injunction, judgment, order, formal interpretation or ruling issued by a court or governmental entity.
- "Articles" means the formation documents (such as articles of incorporation or declaration of trust) of the Customer, as amended from time to time.
- "Authorized Person" means any person who has been designated by the Customer (or by any agent designated by the Customer, including the Investment Adviser) to act on behalf of the Customer under this Agreement and any person who has been given an access code by a security administrator appointed by the Customer which allows the provision of Instructions. Such persons will continue to be Authorized Persons until such time as J.P. Morgan receives, and has had reasonable time to act upon, Instructions from the Customer (or its agent) that any such person is no longer an Authorized Person.
- "Board" means the board of trustees of the Customer.
- "Change" has the meaning given in Section 2.6.
- "Change Control" means the process set out in Section 2.6.
- "Change Request" has the meaning given in Section 2.6.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 1



- "Confidential Information" means and includes all non-public information concerning the Customer and/or the Funds which J.P. Morgan receives in the course of providing services under this Agreement. Nevertheless, the term Confidential Information shall not include information which is or becomes available to the general public by means other than J.P. Morgan's breach of the terms of this Agreement or information which J.P. Morgan develops independently without using the Customer's confidential information or obtains on a non-confidential basis from a person who is not known to be subject to any obligation of confidence to any person with respect to that information.
- "Fees" means the payments described in Article 4, to be made by the Customer to J.P. Morgan for the Services.
- "Fund Administration Services" means the services described in Schedule 2 Fund Administration Services.
- "Fund(s)" means each separate portfolio of the First Eagle Funds and First Eagle Variable Funds.
- "Instruction" means an instruction that has been verified in accordance with a Security Procedure or, if no Security Procedure is applicable, which J.P. Morgan believes in good faith to have been given by an Authorized Person.
- **"Investment Adviser"** means any person or entity appointed as investment adviser or manager of any of the Funds, in accordance with the Registration Statement.
- **"J.P. Morgan Indemnitees"** means J.P. Morgan, its Affiliates, and their respective nominees, directors, officers, employees and agents.
- "Liabilities" means any liabilities, losses, claims, costs, damages, penalties, fines, obligations, taxes (other than taxes based solely on J.P. Morgan's income) or expenses of any kind whatsoever (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys', accountants', consultants' or experts' fees and disbursements).
- "1940 Act" means the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- "OTC Derivative Administration Solutions" means the services described in Schedule 3 OTC Derivative Administration Solutions.
- "OTC Derivative Contract" means any contract of a type that J.P. Morgan, acting reasonably, determines to be an over-the-counter derivative.
- "Prospectus" means the prospectus of the applicable Fund as supplemented, updated or amended from time to time.
- "Registration Statement" means the registration statement on Form N-1A of the applicable Fund, filed under the 1933 Act and the 1940 Act, as amended or supplemented, updated or amended from time to time.
- "SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
- "Security Procedure" means any security procedure to be followed by Customer upon the issuance of an Instruction and/or by J.P. Morgan upon the receipt of an Instruction, so as to enable J.P. Morgan to verify that such Instruction is authorized, as set forth in the operating procedures documentation in effect from time to time between the parties with respect to the services set forth in this Agreement, or as otherwise agreed in writing by the parties. A Security Procedure may, without limitation, involve the use of algorithms, codes, passwords, encryption and telephone call backs and may be updated by J.P. Morgan from time to time upon notice to the Customer. The Customer acknowledges that Security Procedures are designed to verify the authenticity of, and not detect errors in, Instructions. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that a SWIFT message issued in the name of the Customer through any third party utility agreed upon by the parties as being a method for providing Instructions and authenticated in accordance with that utility's customary procedures, shall be deemed to be an authorized Instruction; provided that nothing in the foregoing clause shall require Customer to use SWIFT messaging as a method for providing Instructions.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 2

- "Service Commencement Date" means the first date on which J.P. Morgan is entitled to receive Fees under this Agreement.
- "Services" means the Accounting and NAV Calculation Services, Fund Administration Services, and OTC Derivative Administration Solutions.
- "Share Transaction" means a purchase, redemption, or exchange transaction of Shares.
- "Shareholder Records" means the records maintained by the Transfer Agent containing information concerning the Shareholders and Share Transactions.
- "Shares" means the shares issued by the Customer or the Funds.
- "Shareholder" means a holder of Shares.
- (b) Headings are for reference and convenience only and are not intended to affect interpretation.
- (c) References to articles and sections are to articles and sections of this Agreement and references to sub-sections and paragraphs are to sub-sections of the Sections and paragraphs of the sub-sections in which they appear.
 - Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Agreement to "persons" shall include legal as well as natural entities; references importing the singular shall include the plural (and vice versa); use of the generic masculine
- (d) pronoun shall include the feminine; use of the term "including" shall be deemed to mean "including but not limited to," and references to appendices and numbered sections shall be to such addenda and provisions herein; all such addenda are hereby incorporated in this Agreement by reference.

2. WHAT J.P. MORGAN IS REQUIRED TO DO

2.1. The Services.

- The Customer hereby appoints J.P. Morgan to act as administrator of and to provide the Services with respect to each of the Customers and J.P. Morgan agrees to act as administrator of and to provide the Services with respect to each of
- (a) the Customers (subject to any limitations notified by the Customer to J.P. Morgan in writing and subject to any requirements or restrictions imposed on the performance of such functions by any statutory provisions for the time being in force), until this Agreement is terminated as hereinafter provided.
 - Customer will endeavor to provide J.P. Morgan with advance notice of material amendments to the Articles, Registration Statement or the Prospectus, and will provide such amendments to J.P. Morgan promptly after effectiveness. J.P. Morgan shall not be required to act in accordance with any amendments to the Articles, Registration
- (b) Statement or the Prospectus that it does not receive a reasonable amount of time prior to such amendment or revision becoming effective or that are in any way inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, but J.P. Morgan will use its best efforts to implement any such amendment. If any such proposed amendment is inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Customer shall promptly submit a Change Request in accordance Section 2.6.
- (c) J.P. Morgan shall act as an agent of the Customer and/or the Funds solely with respect to the duties of J.P. Morgan described in this Agreement.
- (d) The Customer acknowledges that J.P. Morgan is not providing any legal, tax or investment advice in providing the Services.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 3

2.2. No Duty to Monitor Compliance.

Each party hereto acknowledges that the duty of J.P. Morgan in its capacity as the provider of any of the Services shall not constitute a duty to monitor the compliance of any other party hereto or their delegates or any other person whatsoever (other than J.P. Morgan or any of its Affiliates or sub-contractors) with any restriction or guideline imposed on any of the Funds or the Investment Adviser by the Registration Statement and any other document, or by law or regulation or otherwise with regard to any of the Funds or the Investment Adviser, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement and further, that the duties of J.P. Morgan in its capacity as the provider of any of the Services, shall not extend to enforcing compliance of any of the Funds, the Investment Adviser, their respective delegates or any other person whatsoever (other than J.P. Morgan or any of its Affiliates or sub-contractors) with any such restrictions or guidelines.

2.3. No Responsibility for Tax Returns.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, while J.P. Morgan shall provide the Customer with information regarding taxable events in the United States in relation to the Customer and/or the Funds, J.P. Morgan is not responsible for preparing or filing any tax reports or returns on behalf of the Shareholders or the Funds except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.

2.4. Storage of Records.

J.P. Morgan is authorized to maintain all accounts, registers, corporate books and other documents on magnetic tape or disc, or on any other mechanical or electronic system; provided that they are capable of being reproduced in legible form in accordance with Applicable Law. All such records for the Funds are the property of the Customer. If requested by Customer, J.P. Morgan shall provide a copy of any and all such records to the Customer. Where any Authorized Person, including any Fund's auditor, wishes to inspect such documents maintained by J.P. Morgan, J.P. Morgan shall provide legible documents, for the discharge of the Fund's and its auditors' legal and regulatory duties. The applicable Funds shall be responsible for the payment of any reasonable research and copying costs associated with any such request, in accordance with J.P. Morgan's customary practices.

2.5. Compliance with Laws and Regulations.

J.P. Morgan will comply with Applicable Law in the United States with respect to the provision of the Services. The Customer shall comply (and to cause the Funds to comply) with Applicable Law in the United States and in each state in which the Customer conducts business, to the extent that compliance with such Applicable Law is relevant to the provision or receipt of the Services or the marketing of the Funds.

2.6. Change Control.

- If either party wishes to propose any amendment or modification to, or variation of, the Services including the scope or details of the Services (a "Change") then it shall notify the other party of that fact by sending a written request (a "Change Request") to the party, specifying in as much detail as is reasonably practicable the nature of the Change. J.P. Morgan shall maintain a log of all Change Requests.
- Promptly following the receipt of a Change Request the parties shall agree in writing whether to implement the (b) Change Request, whether the Fees should be modified in light of the change to the Services, and the basis upon which J.P. Morgan will be compensated for implementing the Change Request.
- (c) If a change to Applicable Law requires a change to the provision of the Services, or an increase in J.P. Morgan's costs or risk associated with provision of the Services, the parties shall follow the

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 4

Change Control processes set forth in this Section. J.P. Morgan shall bear its own costs with respect to implementing such a Change Request except that:

- (i) J.P. Morgan shall be entitled to charge the Customer for any changes to software that has been developed or customized for the Customer; and
- J.P. Morgan shall be entitled to charge the Customer for any changes required as a result of the change in
 Applicable Law affecting the Customer and/or any of its Funds in a materially different way than it affects J.P.
 Morgan's other customers, or which the Customer wishes J.P. Morgan to implement in a way different from what J.P. Morgan reasonably intends to implement for its other customers.

3. INSTRUCTIONS

3.1. Acting on Instructions; Method of Instruction; and Unclear Instructions.

The Customer authorizes J.P. Morgan to accept, rely upon and/or act upon any Instructions received by it without inquiry. The Customer will indemnify the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees against, and hold each of them harmless from, any Liabilities that may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees as a result of any action or omission taken in accordance with any Instruction unless the Liabilities result from an act of negligence, fraud or willful misconduct on the part of the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees with respect to the manner in which such Instructions are followed.

J.P. Morgan shall promptly notify an Authorized Person or Shareholder, as applicable, if J.P. Morgan determines that an Instruction does not contain all information reasonably necessary for J.P. Morgan to carry out the Instruction. J.P.

- (b) Morgan may decline to act upon an Instruction if it does not receive clarification or confirmation satisfactory to it. J.P. Morgan will not be liable for any loss arising from any reasonable delay in carrying out any such Instruction while it seeks such missing information, clarification or confirmation or in declining to act upon any Instruction for which it does not receive clarification satisfactory to it.
- (c) Where reasonably practicable, the Customer will use automated and electronic methods of sending Instructions.

3.2. Verification and Security Procedures.

- J.P. Morgan and the Customer shall comply with any applicable Security Procedures with respect to the delivery or(a) authentication of Instructions and shall ensure that any codes, passwords or similar devices are reasonably safeguarded.
- (b) Either party may record any of its telephone communications.

3.3. Instructions Contrary To Applicable Law/Market Practice.

- J.P. Morgan need not act upon Instructions which it reasonably believes to be contrary to law, regulation or market practice but J.P. Morgan shall be under no duty to investigate whether any Instructions comply with Applicable Law or market practice. In the event J.P. Morgan does not act upon such Instructions, J.P. Morgan will promptly notify Customer.
- (a) J.P. Morgan shall not incur liability by refusing in good faith to perform any duty or obligation herein which in its reasonable judgment is improper or unauthorized.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 5

3.4. Cut-Off Times.

J.P. Morgan has established cut-off times for receipt of Instructions, which will be made available to the Customer. If J.P. Morgan receives an Instruction (other than Instructions relating to a Share Transaction, which shall be processed by J.P. Morgan in accordance with the Registration Statement) after its established cut-off time, J.P. Morgan will attempt to act upon the Instruction on the day requested if J.P. Morgan deems it practicable to do so or otherwise as soon as practicable after that day.

3.5. Electronic Access.

Access by the Customer to certain applications or products of J.P. Morgan via J.P. Morgan's web site or otherwise shall be governed by this Agreement and the terms and conditions set forth in Annex A Electronic Access.

4. FEES AND EXPENSES OWING TO J.P. MORGAN

4.1. Fees and Expenses.

The Customer will pay J.P. Morgan for the Services under this Agreement the Fees as set forth in the Fee Schedule as attached hereto, or as otherwise agreed upon in writing between the Customer and J.P. Morgan from time to time.

- (a) J.P. Morgan may make reasonable amendments to the Fees at any time should either (i) the Customer's actual investment portfolio and/or trading activity differ significantly from the assumptions used to develop J.P. Morgan's fee proposal or (ii) the Customer's service requirements change.
 - In addition to the Fees provided for above, the Customer shall be responsible for, and shall reimburse J.P. Morgan for, the payment of all governmental or similar fees, charges, taxes, duties and imposts levied in or by any relevant authority in the United States on or in respect of the Customer and/or any Fund which are incurred by J.P. Morgan. The Customer shall reimburse J.P. Morgan for reasonable out-of-pocket or incidental expenses related to the Funds, including, but not limited to, market data charges, pricing vendors charges, travel costs, telephone, postage and
- (b) stationery and expenses of a similar nature as J.P. Morgan may incur in the execution of its duties under this Agreement and including the costs and expenses, by the Customer's request or with the Customer's agreement, incurred by J.P. Morgan and its agents in determining the value of assets in connection with its duty as the calculator of the Net Asset Value of the Funds or any Shares and in connection with the performance of its duties pursuant to this Agreement. The Customer will pay J.P. Morgan for J.P. Morgan's other reasonable out-of-pocket or incidental expenses, as may be agreed upon in writing, from time to time.
 - Invoices will be payable within thirty (30) days of the date of the receipt of invoice. If the Customer disputes an invoice, it shall nevertheless pay on or before the date that payment is due such portion of the invoice that is not subject to a bona fide dispute. J.P. Morgan may deduct amounts invoiced from the accounts held by J.P. Morgan for
- (c) the benefit of the Customer except to the extent that the Customer has objected to the invoice within thirty (30) days of the date of receipt of invoice (or such other period as the parties may agree in writing). Without prejudice to J.P. Morgan's other rights, J.P. Morgan reserves the right to charge interest on overdue amounts from the due date until actual payment at a rate as J.P. Morgan customarily charges for similar overdue amounts.
- (d) J.P. Morgan shall be reasonably compensated, at the customary hourly rates, for remediation efforts conducted by J.P. Morgan at the Customer's request to review and re-execute certain Instructions.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 6

5. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

5.1. Representations of the Customer and J.P. Morgan.

The Customer represents and warrants that (i) assuming execution and delivery of this Agreement by J.P. Morgan, this Agreement is the Customer's legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against the Customer in accordance with its terms, (ii) it has full power and authority to enter into and has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize

- (a) the execution of this Agreement, (iii) there is no material administrative, civil or criminal proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Customer, threatened against the Customer, and (iv) it has not relied on any oral or written representation made by J.P. Morgan or any person on its behalf, and acknowledges that this Agreement sets out to the fullest extent the duties of J.P. Morgan.
 - J.P. Morgan represents and warrants that (i) assuming execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Customer, this Agreement is J.P. Morgan's legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against J.P. Morgan in accordance with its terms;(ii) it has full power and authority to enter into, and has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution of, this Agreement; (iii) any and all information J.P. Morgan provided to Customer or its representatives in
- (b) connection with the Customer's evaluation of J.P. Morgan's experience and capabilities to provide the Services was at the time it was provided true, correct and complete in all material respects; and (iv) it has established and maintains and enforces written policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent material and intentional violations of Applicable Law relating to J.P. Morgan's duties as a service provider hereunder (including federal securities laws prohibiting unlawful use and disclosure of material, non- public information regarding an issuer (such as Customer) or a security (such as Customer's shares) by J. P. Morgan as a service provider hereunder.

5.2. The Customer to Provide Certain Information to J.P. Morgan.

The Customer will promptly provide to J.P. Morgan such information about itself and its financial status as J.P. Morgan may reasonably request, including the Customer's organizational documents and its current audited and unaudited financial statements, its Registration Statement and any contracts, regulatory documents or opinions from a lawyer or accountant that relate to the Services described in this Agreement.

5.3. Information Used to Provide the Service.

The Customer agrees with J.P. Morgan that any information the Customer or the Investment Adviser provides to J.P. Morgan pursuant to this Agreement shall be complete and accurate to enable J.P. Morgan to perform its responsibilities pursuant to this Agreement.

5.4. Know Your Customer Rules.

J.P. Morgan, by Applicable Law, is required to implement reasonable procedures to verify the identity of a person seeking to commence a commercial relationship with J.P. Morgan. The Customer acknowledges that J.P. Morgan's identity verification procedures require it to request certain information from the Customer or third parties regarding the Customer. The Customer agrees to provide J.P. Morgan with, and consents to J.P. Morgan obtaining from third parties, any such information as a condition of using any service provided by J.P. Morgan hereunder. To the extent that the Customer fails to provide or to consent to the provision of any such information, such failure shall be grounds for J.P. Morgan to not open any account or provide any Services and/or to close any account or discontinue providing the Services.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 7

6. WHERE J.P. MORGAN IS LIABLE TO THE CUSTOMER OR THE FUNDS

6.1. Standard of Care; Liability.

- J.P. Morgan will use reasonable care in performing its obligations under this Agreement. J.P. Morgan will not be responsible for any loss or damage suffered by the Customer or the Funds with respect to any matter as to which J.P. Morgan has satisfied its obligation of reasonable care unless the same results from an act of negligence, fraud or willful misconduct on the part of J.P. Morgan.
 - J.P. Morgan will be liable for the Customer's and/or any Fund's direct damages to the extent they result from J.P. Morgan's fraud, negligence, or willful misconduct in performing its duties as set out in this Agreement. Nevertheless, under no circumstances will J.P. Morgan be liable for any indirect, incidental, consequential or special damages (including, without limitation, lost profits or business) of any form incurred by any person or entity, whether or not foreseeable and regardless of the type of action in which such a claim may be brought, resulting from J.P. Morgan's
- The Customer will indemnify the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees against, and hold them harmless from, any Liabilities that may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against any of the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees in connection with or arising out of J.P. Morgan's performance under this Agreement, provided the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees have not acted with negligence or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct in connection with the Liabilities in question.

performance under this Agreement, or J.P. Morgan's role as a service provider to the Customer.

- No Shareholder of the Customer (or any Fund thereof), or any Board trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Customer (or any Fund thereof), shall be subject to claims against or obligations of the Customer (or any Fund thereof) to any extent whatsoever. J.P. Morgan agrees that the obligations assumed by the Customer (or any Fund
- (d) thereof) under this Agreement shall be limited in all cases to the Customer (and specifically to the relevant Fund and its assets), and J.P. Morgan shall not seek satisfaction of any such obligation from the Shareholders or any Shareholder of the Customer (or the relevant Fund) or from any other Fund of the Customer, or from any Board trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Customer (or any Fund thereof).

6.2. Force Majeure.

J.P. Morgan will maintain and update from time to time business continuation and disaster recovery procedures with respect to its global business that it determines from time to time meet reasonable commercial standards. J.P. Morgan will have no liability, however, for any damage, loss, expense or liability of any nature that the Customer or any of the Funds may suffer or incur, caused by an act of God, fire, flood, civil or labor disturbance, war, terrorism, act of any governmental authority or other act or threat of any governmental authority (de jure or de facto), legal constraint, fraud or forgery (other than on the part of J.P. Morgan or its employees), malfunction of equipment or software (except where such malfunction is primarily and directly attributable to J.P. Morgan's negligence in maintaining the equipment or software), failure of or the effect of rules or operations of any external funds transfer system, inability to obtain or interruption of external communications facilities, or any cause beyond the reasonable control of J.P. Morgan.

6.3. J.P. Morgan May Consult with Counsel.

J.P. Morgan will be entitled to rely on, and may act upon the advice of professional advisors in relation to matters of Applicable Law or market practice (which may be the professional advisors of the Customer or the Funds), and shall not be liable to the Customer under this Agreement for any action taken or omitted pursuant to such advice provided that J.P. Morgan has selected and retained such professional advisers using reasonable care and acts reasonably in reliance on the advice.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 8

6.4. Limitations of J.P. Morgan's Liability.

- J.P. Morgan may rely on information provided to it by or on behalf of the Funds, or which was prepared or maintained by the Customer or any third party on behalf of the Funds, in the course of discharging its duties under this Agreement. J.P. Morgan shall not be liable to any person for any Liabilities suffered by any person as a result of J.P. Morgan: (i) having relied upon the authority, accuracy, truth or completeness of information including, without
- (a) limitation, information supplied to J.P. Morgan by the Customer or by the Investment Adviser or any third party (other than an Affiliate or subcontractor of J.P. Morgan involved in the provision of the Services), including but not limited to, information in relation to trades in respect of the Funds or expenses of the Funds; (ii) having relied upon the authority, accuracy, truth and completeness of information furnished to J.P. Morgan by any pricing services, data services, or provider of other market information or information concerning securities held by the Funds.
- (b) J.P. Morgan shall not be liable for any error in data that is transitioned to J.P. Morgan at the time it begins to provide the Services with respect to the Funds provided that J.P. Morgan:
 - (i) shall use reasonable efforts to mitigate any Losses arising as a result of any such error of which it is aware; and
 - (ii) shall notify the Customer as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the error.
- J.P. Morgan and the Customer shall mutually agree on any remediation efforts to correct any such error in data and any compensation to remediate any such error.
 - J.P. Morgan shall not be liable for any Liabilities resulting from a failure by any person to provide J.P. Morgan with any information or notice that is reasonably necessary for the provision of the Services save for Liabilities which result
- (c) directly from an act of negligence, fraud or willful misconduct on the part of the J.P. Morgan Indemnitees. J.P. Morgan shall use reasonable efforts to find alternative sources of information in the event of any such failure. In the event of any such failure that may affect the performance of the Services, J.P. Morgan shall promptly notify the Customer.
- J.P. Morgan shall not be liable for any Liabilities whatsoever incurred or suffered by any party hereto, whether on their(d) own account or for the account of the Funds, as a result of the failure of the Customer or its agents, officers or employees to comply with the laws or regulations of any jurisdiction in which Shares are offered.
- J.P. Morgan's responsibilities with respect to the correction of an error in calculating the net asset value of any Fund
 (e) shall be subject to the NAV correction policy and procedures attached to this Agreement as APPENDIX A Net Asset Value Error Correction Policy and Procedures to Schedule 1 of this Agreement.
 - The Customer agrees that the accounting reports provided by J.P. Morgan, as well as any share class or other similar reports, are to enable the Customer to fulfill its statutory reporting and investor subscription/redemption obligations,
- and are not for investment, treasury or hedging purposes. Accordingly, notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, the Customer agrees that J.P. Morgan shall have no liability whatsoever for any Liabilities incurred by the Customer as result of use of the accounting reports for investment, treasury or hedging purposes, including, but not limited to, for the purpose of currency overlay transactions.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 9

7. TERM AND TERMINATION

7.1. Term and Termination

The initial term of this Agreement shall be for a period of five (5) years following the date on which J.P. Morgan commenced providing services under the Agreement (the "Initial Term"). Following the Initial Term, the Customer may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than ninety (90) days' prior written notice to J.P. Morgan. J.P. Morgan may terminate this Agreement on one hundred and eighty (180) days' prior written notice to the Customer. The Customer may terminate this Agreement at any time during the Initial Term by giving not less than ninety (90) days' prior written notice to J.P. Morgan upon payment of a termination fee. During the first and second years of the Initial Term, the termination fee will be an amount equal to the lesser of (i) \$1.5 million and (ii) six (6) times the average monthly fees paid during the six (6) month period prior to the Customer's notice of termination, or since the date on which J.P. Morgan commenced providing services under this Agreement if such period is less than six (6) months. During the third year of the Initial Term, the termination fee will be an amount equal to the lesser of (i) \$1 million and (ii) four (4) times the average monthly fees paid during the four (4) month period prior to the Customer's notice of termination. During the fourth and fifth year of the Initial Term, the termination fee will be zero.

7.2. Other Grounds for Termination.

- In the event of the termination of the custody agreement between J.P. Morgan and the Customer, J.P. Morgan may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part and cease to provide the Services simultaneously with the transition of the assets of the Customer to a successor custodian, provided that if the Agreement is terminated during the initial term, the termination fee described in Section 7.1 shall apply.
- (b) Notwithstanding Section 7.2(a), either party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to the other party following the occurrence of any of the following:
 - (i) the other party being declared bankrupt, entering into a composition with creditors, obtaining a suspension of payment, being put under court controlled management or being the subject of a similar measure;
 - (ii) the relevant federal or state authority withdrawing its authorization of either party; or
 - the other party committing any material breach of this Agreement and failing to remedy such breach (if capable of (iii) remedy) within 90 days of being given written notice of the material breach, unless the parties agree to extend the period to remedy the breach.

7.3. Consequences of Termination.

Termination of this Agreement under the provisions of this Article 7 will be without prejudice to the performance of any party's obligations under this Agreement with respect to all outstanding transactions at the date of termination.

7.4. Transition following Termination.

As soon as reasonably practicable following its resignation or termination of appointment becoming effective and subject to payment of any amount owing to J.P. Morgan under this Agreement, J.P. Morgan agrees to transfer such records and related supporting documentation as are held by it under this Agreement, to any replacement provider of the Services or to such other person as the Customer may direct. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.2, J.P. Morgan shall provide the Services until a replacement administrator is in place, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement (including Article 4). J.P. Morgan will also provide reasonable assistance to its successor, for such transfer, subject to the payment of such reasonable expenses and charges as J.P. Morgan customarily charges

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 10

for such assistance. The Customer undertakes to use its best efforts to appoint a new administrative service provider as soon as possible.

8. MISCELLANEOUS

8.1. Notices.

Notices pursuant to Article 7 of this Agreement shall be sent or served by registered mail, nationally recognized delivery services, such as Federal Express (FedEx) or United Parcel Service (UPS), etc., courier services or hand delivery to the address of the respective parties as set out on the first page of this Agreement, unless notice of a new address is given to the other party in writing. Notice will not be deemed to be given unless it has been received.

8.2. Successors and Assigns.

This Agreement will be binding on each of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. The parties agree that neither party can assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; except J.P. Morgan may assign this Agreement without Customer's consent to (a) any Affiliate of J.P. Morgan or (b) in connection with a merger, reorganization, stock sale or sale of all or substantially all of J.P. Morgan's fund servicing business.

8.3. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement, including any Schedules, Exhibits, Appendices and Annexes, sets out the entire Agreement between the parties in connection with the subject matter hereof, and this Agreement supersedes any other agreement, statement, or representation relating to the Services under this Agreement, whether oral or written. Amendments must be in writing and signed by both parties.

8.4. Insurance.

The Customer acknowledges that J.P. Morgan will not be required to maintain any insurance coverage specifically for the benefit of the Customer or the Funds. J.P. Morgan will, however, provide summary information of its own general insurance coverage to the Customer upon written request.

8.5. Governing Law and Jurisdiction.

This Agreement will be construed, regulated and administered under the laws of the United States or State of New York, as applicable, without regard to New York's principles regarding conflict of laws, except that the foregoing shall not reduce any statutory right to choose New York law or forum. The United States District Court for the Southern District of New York will have the sole and exclusive jurisdiction over any lawsuit or other judicial proceeding relating to or arising from this Agreement. If that court lacks federal subject matter jurisdiction, the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County will have sole and exclusive jurisdiction. Either of these courts will have the proper venue for any such lawsuit or judicial proceeding, and the parties waive any objection to venue or their convenience as a forum. The parties agree to submit to the jurisdiction of any of the courts specified and to accept service of process to vest personal jurisdiction over them in any of these courts. The parties further hereby knowingly, voluntarily and intentionally waive, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any right to a trial by jury with respect to any such lawsuit or judicial proceeding arising or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. To the extent that in any jurisdiction the Customer or J.P. Morgan may now or hereafter be entitled to claim, for itself or its assets, immunity from suit, execution, attachment (before or after judgment) or other legal process, the Customer or J.P. Morgan (as applicable) shall not claim, and it hereby irrevocably waives, such immunity.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 11

8.6. Severability; Waiver; and Survival.

If one or more provisions of this Agreement are held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect on the basis of any particular circumstances or in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of such provision or provisions under other circumstances or in other jurisdictions and of the remaining provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired.

Except as otherwise provided herein, no failure or delay on the part of either party in exercising any power or right under this Agreement operates as a waiver, nor does any single or partial exercise of any power or right preclude any

- (b) other or further exercise, or the exercise of any other power or right. No waiver by a party of any provision of this Agreement, or waiver of any breach or default, is effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party against whom the waiver is to be enforced.
- (c) The parties' rights, protections, and remedies under this Agreement shall survive its termination.

8.7. Confidentiality.

Subject to Section 8.7(b), J.P. Morgan will hold all Confidential Information in confidence with the same level of care as if such Confidential Information was its own and will not disclose any Confidential Information except as may be required by Applicable Law, a regulator with jurisdiction over J.P. Morgan's business, or with the consent of the

- (a) Customer provided that prior to disclosing any such Confidential Information pursuant to Applicable Law or as required by any such regulator in connection with a request for information specific to Customer, J.P. Morgan shall provide Customer with written notice within a reasonable time prior to disclosing Confidential Information to the extent practicable and legally permissible in order to permit Customer to seek a protective order prohibiting the disclosure of such Confidential Information.
- (b) The Customer authorizes J.P. Morgan to disclose Confidential Information to:
 - (i) any subcontractor, agent, service provider, vendor or any other person that J.P. Morgan believes is reasonably required in connection with J.P. Morgan's provision of relevant services under this Agreement;
 - (ii) its professional advisors, auditors or public accountants;
 - (iii) its branches and J.P. Morgan Affiliates; and
 - (iv) any revenue authority or any governmental entity in relation to the processing of any tax claim.

Except where J.P. Morgan is instructed to provide Confidential Information to a party designated by the Funds, J.P. Morgan agrees that any person to whom it discloses any Confidential Information pursuant to clauses (i), (ii), or (iii) above has agreed to keep such Confidential Information confidential or has an internal policy to keep confidential client information confidential to the same extent as required of J.P. Morgan pursuant to this Agreement and J.P. Morgan shall be responsible and liable for any breach of confidentiality by any such person, except in the case of disclosure required by Applicable Law.

Except as (i) otherwise required by Applicable Law, (ii) required for disclosure in the Customer's Registration (c) Statement, or (iii) needed to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the parties shall hold the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including, without limitation, any commercial terms, in confidence.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 12

8.8. Use of J.P. Morgan's Name.

The Customer agrees not to use (or permit the use of) J.P. Morgan's name in any document, publication or publicity material relating to the Customer or the Funds, including but not limited to notices, sales literature, stationery, advertisements, etc., without the prior consent of J.P. Morgan (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), provided that no prior consent is needed if the document in which J.P. Morgan's name is used merely states that J.P. Morgan is acting as administrator to the Funds.

8.9. Delegation.

J.P. Morgan may delegate to a reputable agent any of its functions herein. However, J.P. Morgan will remain responsible to the Funds for any such delegation. To the extent reasonably practicable, J.P. Morgan will consult with the Customer before it implements the delegation of a material portion of the Services.

8.10. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts each of which will be deemed to be an original and together will constitute one and the same agreement.

8.11. No Third Party Beneficiaries.

A person who is not a party to this Agreement shall have no right to enforce any term of this Agreement.

8.12. Cyber-security

J.P. Morgan will implement and maintain an information security program to safeguard customer information, and will provide Customer with a written summary of such program upon request.

8.13. Obligations of Each Customer Several; Funds as Customers

- Although each Customer and J.P. Morgan are entering into this agreement for convenience, each Customer and (a) J.P. Morgan intend that this Agreement constitute a separate agreement between each Customer and J.P. Morgan such that each reference to Customer shall be read solely as a reference to a single entity.
 - J.P. Morgan acknowledges and agrees that the obligations assumed by the Customer hereunder shall be limited in all cases to the assets of the Customer and that J.P. Morgan may not seek satisfaction of any such obligation from the officers, agents, employees, trustees, directors or shareholders of the Customer or of any other Customer hereto, and to the extent such trustees or officers are regarded as entering into this Agreement, they do so only as
- (b) trustees or officers and not individually and that the obligations of this Agreement are not binding upon any such trustee, officer, employee or shareholder individually, but are binding only upon the assets and property of such Customer. J.P. Morgan hereby agrees that such trustees, officers, employees or shareholders shall not be personally liable under this Agreement and that J.P. Morgan shall look solely to the property of the Customer for the performance of the Agreement or payment of any claim under the Agreement.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 13

AS WITNESS the hand of the duly authorized officers of the parties hereto:

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016

Page 14

FIRST EAGLE FUNDS, on behalf of the separate portfolios listed on Exhibit A		FIRST EAGLE VARIABLE FUNDS, on behalf of the separate portfolios listed on Exhibit A	
By:	Joseph Malone	Ву:	Joseph Malone
Name:	Joseph Malone	Name:	Joseph Malone
Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds	Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds
Date:	4/27/17	Date:	4/27/17
FIRST E	AGLE GLOBAL CAYMAN FUND, LTD.	FIRST E	AGLE OVERSEAS CAYMAN FUND, LTD.
Ву:	Joseph Malone	Ву:	Joseph Malone
Name:	Joseph Malone	Name:	Joseph Malone
Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds	Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds
Date:	4/27/17	Date:	4/27/17
FIRST E	AGLE US VALUE CAYMAN FUND, LTD.	FIRST E	AGLE GOLD CAYMANS FUND, LTD.
Ву:	Joseph Malone	Ву:	Joseph Malone
Name:	Joseph Malone	Name:	Joseph Malone
Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds	Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds
Date:	4/27/17	Date:	4/27/17
FINANC	EIERE ROUGE LLC	FINANC	EIERE BLEUE LLC
By:	Joseph Malone	By:	Joseph Malone
Name:	Joseph Malone	Name:	Joseph Malone
Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds	Title:	CFO First Eagle Funds
Date:	4/27/17	Date:	4/27/17
JPMOR	GAN CHASE BANK, N.A.		
By:			
Name:			
Title:			
Date:			

Exhibit A List of Entities

First Eagle Funds:
First Eagle Global Fund
First Eagle Overseas Fund
First Eagle U.S. Value Fund
First Eagle Gold Fund
First Eagle Global Income Builder Fund
First Eagle High Yield Fund
First Eagle Fund of America
First Eagle Variable Funds:
First Eagle Overseas Variable Fund
First Eagle Global Cayman Fund, Ltd.
First Eagle Overseas Cayman Fund, Ltd.
First Eagle US Value Cayman Fund, Ltd.
First Eagle Gold Caymans Fund, Ltd.
Financiere Rouge LLC
Financiere Bleue LLC

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 15

Schedule 1 Accounting and NAV Calculation Services

- NAV calculation/fund valuation:
 - Calculation of NAV based on a single valuation per day
 - Standard transactional and NAV materiality thresholds
 - Share class accounting with market standard allocation methodology
 - Support both GAAP and tax-based records
 - Utilizing standard NAV delivery timeframes
- Asset pricing and reporting
 - Standard automated vendor inputs, including international fair valuation
 - Standard valuation oversight reporting (e.g., fair value reports, broker prices, etc.)
- Capital stock processing and reconciliation
 - Automated data files from transfer agent using market standard formats
 - Automated NAV transmissions to transfer agent using market standard formats
- Cash availability reporting for money market funds
- Portfolio trades processing
 - Market standard automated trade files
- Corporate actions processing
- Portfolio income recognition
- Automated expense processing
- Cash Reconciliations
- Asset reconciliations
- NAV dissemination
 - Standard JP Morgan automated tools and reporting
- Audit reporting and coordination
 - External audit, SSAE16, and client due diligence coordination
- Standard accounting data extracts
- ASC 820 and 815 support
- Standard client reporting
 - Standard end-of-day accounting information
 - Standard risk oversight reporting (e.g., aged receivables, stale prices, etc.) using Views Portfolio Reporting (VPR)

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 16

APPENDIX A Net Asset Value Error Correction Policy and Procedures

1. As used in this Agreement and the Schedules and Appendices to this Agreement, the following terms have the meaning hereinafter stated:

"NAV Error" is defined as one or more errors in the computation of net asset value which, when considered cumulatively, result in a difference between the originally computed NAV and the corrected NAV of at least \$0.010 per share. This computation is based upon the actual difference and is not based upon the rounding of the NAV to the nearest cent per share.

"Per Share NAV Error" is the difference between the originally computed per share NAV, and the amount that would have been computed had the errors not occurred.

"NAV Error Period" comprises those days during which a NAV Error existed.

"Fund Loss" refers to a situation where a Fund has either paid excessive redemption proceeds as a result of an overstatement of the NAV or received insufficient subscription proceeds as a result of an understatement of the NAV. When such a Fund Loss occurs, the individual Shareholders effecting transactions received a corresponding benefit (a "Shareholder Benefit").

"Fund Benefit" means a situation where a Fund has either paid insufficient redemption proceeds as a result of an understatement of NAV or received excessive subscription proceeds as a result of an overstatement of NAV. When such a Fund Benefit occurs, the individual Shareholders effecting transactions suffer a corresponding loss (a "Shareholder Loss").

The term "responsible person" means a person who, by virtue of negligence, fraud, or willful misconduct, caused or contributed to an NAV Error.

- 2. The following Procedures will be utilized by J.P. Morgan with respect to NAV Error corrections:
 - If the error in the computation of the net asset value is less than \$0.010 per share, no action shall be taken. At the (a) request of Customer, J.P. Morgan will prepare and deliver a written memo to the Customer explaining the cause of error and any remediation.
 - If a Per Share NAV Error is less than one half of one percent of the originally computed Per Share NAV, J.P. Morgan, on behalf of the Funds, will determine whether total Fund Losses exceeded total Fund Benefits for the NAV Error Period. If
 - (b) the Fund incurred a net loss, the Customer will be responsible for obtaining reimbursement for such loss from the responsible person or persons. If the Fund had a net benefit, no action need be taken; however, such net benefit should not be carried forward to any analyses performed in the future for other NAV Errors that may arise.
 - If the Per Share NAV Error equals or exceeds one half of one percent of the originally computed per share NAV, 1)
 (c) account adjustments should be made to compensate Shareholders for Shareholder Losses, and 2) the Customer will be responsible for obtaining reimbursement for such loss from the responsible person or persons for Fund Losses.
 - With respect to individual Shareholder Losses, the Customer will be responsible for causing the Fund (or responsible party) to pay to individual Shareholders any additional redemption proceeds owed and either refund
 - (i) excess subscription monies paid or credit the Shareholder account as of the date of the NAV Error, for additional shares. Nevertheless, no correction of a given individual Shareholder account shall be made unless the applicable Shareholder Loss for such Shareholder equals or exceeds a de minimis amount of \$20.
 - (ii) With respect to Fund Losses, the Customer will be responsible for causing either the responsible person or persons or the individual Shareholders to reimburse the Fund for the

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 17

amount of the Fund's Losses. (Note that there is no netting of Fund Losses (as described in (c)(i)above) where the error equals or exceeds $\frac{1}{2}$ of 1% of NAV, to the extent benefits were paid out by the Fund to Shareholders as account adjustments).

- In the case of an error that fluctuates above and below one half of one percent, individual Shareholder adjustments
 (d) should be effected for those days where the NAV Error was equal to or exceeded one half of one percent. With respect to the remaining days, the Fund level process described above in Section 2(b) may be applied.
- If there is a subsequent discovery of an error which affects a NAV Error Period that had previously been corrected in the (e) manner described above, the subsequently discovered NAV Error should be analyzed in isolation without taking into consideration the previously corrected NAV Errors.
 - In cases where a NAV Error has occurred, the Customer, upon J.P. Morgan's request, will instruct the Transfer Agent to reprocess transactions and to adjust each Shareholder's Shares upwards or downwards accordingly, at the expense of
- (f) the responsible person or persons. If the Transfer Agent does not agree to reprocess transactions resulting from a NAV Error for which J.P. Morgan is a responsible person, J.P. Morgan's liability will be limited to the amount it would have been liable for had the reprocessing occurred.
- (g) In cases where J.P. Morgan is not the responsible person with regard to an NAV Error, J.P. Morgan shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for the work it performs with respect to the remediation of the NAV Error.
- In cases where J.P. Morgan is a responsible person with regard to an NAV Error, but not the sole responsible person, the (h) Fund, to the extent customary under industry practice, shall seek recovery from each such responsible person, for its proportional share of the applicable Fund Loss or Shareholder Loss.
 - Subject to the other provisions of this Appendix and to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, in connection with any NAV Error caused by J.P. Morgan's fraud, negligence, or willful misconduct, for which J.P. Morgan is not otherwise
- (i) excused under this Agreement, J.P. Morgan shall pay to the Customer (i) the applicable Fund Loss or Shareholder Loss resulting from such NAV Error, and (ii) any other Liabilities incurred by the Customer as a result of, or in connection with, such NAV Error, including any such Liabilities incurred in complying with the requirements of this Appendix.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 18

Schedule 2 Fund Administration Services

Fund Expense Administration

- Prepare fund expense budgets (monthly and annually)
 - Annual budgets
 - Quarterly and monthly adjustments as required
 - True-ups and other expense adjustments as required
- Expense cap and basis point analysis (monthly and annually)
 - By class and by contractual fee (12b-1, advisory, administration, etc.) type (twice a month)
- Fund invoice payments
 - Validate, approve and process fund invoices upon receipt
 - Asset-based fee payments (management fees, distribution fees, etc.)
- Periodic multi-class dividend distributions (monthly, quarterly, annually)
 - Calculation, verification, and communication of income, capital gains, excise, special distributions and income projections
- Performance (NAV total return) reporting
 - Before tax calculations
 - Core performance reporting utilizing Unity Performance with Core frequency
- Standard survey preparation and dissemination
- Preparation and dissemination of vendor/trustee 1099-Misc Forms (annually)
- Preparation and dissemination of ICI primary and secondary reporting (annually)
 - Including treasury income and asset tests
- Preparation and filing of Form 24F-2 (annually)
- Calculation of portfolio turnover and cost rollforward (semi-annually and annually)
- Financial Statement and prospectus/statement of additional income (SAI) support (annually)
 - Calculate and provide specific financial and compliance data to support financial statement process
- Quarterly Board materials
 - Standard Financial Administration-related board materials utilizing Investor Services-resident data
 - Standard report package includes:
 - a. Broker Commission
 - b. Top 10 Holdings
 - c. Top 10 Industries
 - d. 144A Illiquid Reporting

Compliance Services

- 1940 Act compliance monitoring
 - Portfolio diversification 5b-1
 - Industry concentration 8b-1 using standard industry schema
 - Borrowing provision 18f-1 (300% leverage)
 - Illiquid securities 22e
 - Securities Related Businesses 12d3
 - Investment Companies 12d-1
- Voting shares 12d2
 - Investment Company Names test 35d1
 - Perform research into daily results
- Communication of compliance monitoring results
 - Communication of warnings and violations as applicable
- Breach review investigation and research of potential warnings and violations

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 19

- Prospectus / Statement of Additional Information (SAI) Monitoring
 - Communication of compliance monitoring results
 - Communication of warnings and violations as applicable
 - Breach review investigation and research of potential warnings and violations
- Update Prospectus / SAI rules as required (per client instruction)
- IRS Subchapter M Diversification testing
 - Diversification testing under Section 851 (b)(3) for Mutual Funds
 - Diversification testing under Section 817(h) for Variable Annuities
 - 50% Tax Exempt Test under Section 852(b)(5) for tax-exempt (Municipal) Funds
 - 90% Gross Income testing under Section 851 (b)(2)
- Communication of warnings and violations where required and cure analysis
- Core Compliance-related board materials utilizing IS-resident data
- Look-through for fund of funds custodied at JP Morgan
- 10666 (Section 18) asset coverage testing

Delivery of Standard Reporting Package

Financial Reporting Services

- Preparation and review of semi- and annual- financial statements with 60 day turnaround time
 - Creation, distribution, and review of up to production drafts
- Preparation, review, and coordination with printer of Form N-CSR
 - Prepare and review line item 1 of Form N-CSR and assist in the coordination and filing
- Preparation, review, and coordination of filing of Form N-Q
 - Creation, distribution, and review of up to 2-3 production drafts
- Preparation, review, and filing of Form N-SAR
- Provide audit coordination support

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 20

Schedule 3 OTC Derivative Administration Solutions

OTC Derivatives Accounting

Base Position Management

- Calculation of cash flow events for supported instruments or receipt of cash events for non supported instruments
- Processing of OTC valuation and cash data into the J.P. Morgan accounting system
- Reconciliation of J.P. Morgan accounting system OTC positions to the client or client's fund manager
- Reconciliation of the J.P. Morgan accounting system OTC positions, fees and coupons to the Clearing Broker
- Cash break management in relation to the accounting ledger
- Sourcing Valuation on a directed frequency from the Investment Manager

OTC Derivative Trade and Instruction Capture

Trade and Instruction Capture Management

Trade capture via FpML and / or J.P. Morgan pre-formatted .CSV template – full trade data to be supplied

Valuation - Provision of a Third Party Provided Valuation

Lifecycle and Position Management

- Sourcing of OTC derivative valuation from a relevant third party pricing provider single source
- Entry of Clearing House sourced OTC derivative valuation into the J.P. Morgan accounting system
- Standard Client Reporting
- Dual sourcing available, subject to an additional fee

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 21

Annex A Electronic Access

J.P. Morgan may permit the Customer and its Authorized Persons to access certain electronic systems and applications (collectively, the "Products") and to access or receive electronically Data (as defined below) in connection with the Agreement. J.P. Morgan may, from time to time, introduce new features to the Products or otherwise modify or delete

- existing features of the Products in its sole discretion. J.P. Morgan shall endeavor to give the Customer reasonable notice
 of its termination or suspension of access to the Products, but may do so immediately if J.P. Morgan determines, in its sole
 discretion, that providing access to the Products would violate Applicable Law or that the security or integrity of the
 Products is at risk. Access to the Products shall be subject to the Security Procedures.
 - In consideration of the fees paid by the Customer to J.P. Morgan and subject to any applicable software license addendum in relation to J.P. Morgan-owned or sublicensed software provided for a particular application and Applicable Law, J.P. Morgan grants to the Customer a non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited and revocable license to use the Products and the information and data made available through the Products or transferred electronically (the "Data") for the Customer's internal business use only. The Customer may download the Data and print out hard copies for its reference, provided that it does not remove any copyright or other notices contained therein. The license granted herein will permit use by the Customer's Authorized Person, provided that such use shall be in compliance with the Agreement, including this Annex. The Customer acknowledges that elements of the Data, including prices, corporate action information, and reference data, may have been licensed by J.P. Morgan from third parties and that any use of such Data beyond that authorized by the foregoing license, may require the permission of one or more third parties in addition to J.P. Morgan.
- The Customer acknowledges that there are security, corruption, transaction error and access availability risks associated with using open networks such as the internet, and the Customer hereby expressly assumes such risks. The Customer is solely responsible for obtaining, maintaining and operating all software (including antivirus software, anti-spyware software, and other internet security software) and personnel necessary for the Customer to access and use the Products. All such software must be interoperable with J.P. Morgan's software. Each of the Customer and J.P. Morgan shall be responsible for the proper functioning, maintenance and security of its own systems, services, software and other equipment.
- In cases where J.P. Morgan's web site is unexpectedly down or otherwise unavailable, J.P. Morgan shall, absent a force majeure event, provide other appropriate means for the Customer or its Authorized Persons to instruct J.P. Morgan or obtain reports from J.P. Morgan. J.P. Morgan shall not be liable for any Liabilities arising out of the Customer's use of, access to or inability to use the Products via J.P. Morgan's web site in the absence of J.P. Morgan's gross negligence or willful misconduct.
 - Use of the Products may be monitored, tracked, and recorded. In using the Products, the Customer hereby expressly consents to such monitoring, tracking, and recording. Individuals and organizations should have no expectation of privacy unless local law, regulation, or contract provides otherwise. J.P. Morgan shall own all right, title and interest in the data
- 5. reflecting the Customer usage of the Products or J.P. Morgan's web site (including, but not limited to, general usage data and aggregated transaction data). J.P. Morgan may use and sublicense data obtained by it regarding the Customer's use of the Products or J.P. Morgan's web site, as long as J.P. Morgan does not disclose to others that the Customer was the source of such data or the details of individual transactions effected using the Products or web site.
- The Customer shall not knowingly use the Products to transmit (i) any virus, worm, or destructive element or any programs or data that may be reasonably expected to interfere with or disrupt the Products or servers connected to the Products; (ii) material that violates the rights of another, including but not limited to the intellectual property rights of another; and (iii) "junk mail", "spam", "chain letters" or unsolicited mass distribution of e-mail.

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 22

The Customer shall promptly and accurately designate in writing to J.P. Morgan the geographic location of its users upon written request. The Customer further represents and warrants to J.P. Morgan that the Customer shall not access the service from any jurisdiction which J.P. Morgan informs the Customer or where the Customer has actual knowledge that the

- 7. service is not authorized for use due to local regulations or laws, including applicable software export rules and regulations. Prior to submitting any document which designates the persons authorized to act on the Customer's behalf, the Customer shall obtain from each individual referred to in such document all necessary consents to enable J.P. Morgan to process the data set out therein for the purposes of providing the Products
 - The Customer will be subject to and shall comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations concerning restricting collection, use, disclosure, processing and free movement of the Data (collectively, the "Privacy Regulations"). The Privacy Regulations may include, as applicable, the Federal "Privacy of Consumer Financial Information" Regulation (12 CFR Part
- 8. 30), as amended from time to time, issued pursuant to Section 504 of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (15 U.S.C. §6801, et seq.), the Health and Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (42 U.S.C. §1320d), The Data Protection Act 1998 and Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individuals with regard to processing of personal data and the free movement of such data.
- 9. The Customer shall be responsible for the compliance of its Authorized Persons with the terms of the Agreement, including this Annex

Fund Services Agreement - US Mutual Funds - June 2016 Page 23